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£3.3m

Total Incarme in 2018

9

Mumber of countries
our awarded grants will
impact

1,183,841

HIY tests funded by the
Foundation in 2018

67,812

OF those whao fested
positive started on HIY
treatment

1,946,851

Individuals provided
with direct support in
2018

19%

Cost to income ratio of
pur fundraising
Activities in 2018
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Chair and Chief Executive Officer’s

introduction

Support provided

This year saw close out of the grant strategy
approved by the Board in 2013 and provided an
apportunity ta reflect onits achievements. Over the
last Five years we have disbursed £42.5m in grants
which has tested 2.8m people and put 153,000
people living with HIV on lifesaving treatment. As
part of this work, we have canceived and funded
flagshlp programmes in the UK and South Africa:
funded 32 grants pioneering new ways of delivering
HIV services, testing and treatrment; supported the
national adoption of PrEF via the NHS in the UK;
helped change discriminatory  laws  affecting
communities at risk of HIV in Kenya, lamaica and
Ukraing, developed three multi country funds {see
below), launched the firstsocial impact bond fer HIV
in the world and forged new partnerships with
natignal governments and multilateral arganisations
such as Linitaid and the Global Fund.

Multi Country Funds

2018 marked the end of our two-year partmership
with PEPFAR and Frontling Aids [formerly the
International AIDS Alllancs) for the LSBT Fund
supporting individuals in Sub Saharan Africa and the
Caribbean who are up to 22 times more vulnerable
tp HIV than the peneral population. The Fund
developed ‘desp engagement’ grants designed to
make & lasting change to the HIV response for LGBT
people by establishing programmes in Kenya,
Mozamhbigque and Uganda, These programimes
reached maore than 32,000 peaple with services. The
Fund's Rapid Response element sperated in 21
countries where LGBT pegple face violence, stigma
and discrimination.  Grantees provided small,
emergency funding to over 19,000 very marginalised
individuals sesking physical safety; tested 11,000
peoplea for HIY and started 2,416 people an
antiretroviral medication. Personal stories from the
Fund were documented in a photo journalism series
cavered extensivaly in the Mew York Times and at
the International AlDS Conference, which highlighted
same of the acute physlcal and psychalogical needs
that the Fund sought to address.
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Against @ backdrop of rising infactions in Eastern
Eurgpe and Central Atia, where an estimated 1.6m
peaple are living with HIV and 57% of the 150,000
new infectlons  annually are amongst  key
populations, we announced the first grantees under
ourEastern Europe and Central Asia Key Populations
Fund {EECAKP Fund) in collabaration with the Duich
government, Gllead Scignces and AIDSFonds, The
Fund supports wark in 10 esuntriesincluding Russia,
Ukralne and Armenia. Working In partnerships with
communities and health systems = the Fund aims to
reach key populations in the region with HIV
prevention, testing, and treatment services. Mare
than £7m has been disbursed from the Fund to date,
reaching 3,000 pepple with prevention services,
praviding an HIY test to 3,582 and putting 433
people on HY treatment.

New Partnerships

At the end of 2017 we were working towards
developing sipnificant new programmes aimed at
adalescents (the anly age demographic for whom
HIY 1z grawing] particularly young women as part of
pur Young Survivers Pregram. To infarm this, along
with the Global Fund for AIDS, TB & Malarfa, we
cormmissioned strategic advisary firm Dalberg to
undertake a review of the vulnerabllltles and drivars
of adalescent HIY in Lesotho and Botswana, Using &
human centred deslgn approach, We subsequently
convened 3 wide group of funders, NGOs, and
researchers, as well as commercial marketing
specialists to share Dalkerg's findings and to review
gptions for intervention, A key insight from this
work was that much of the vulnerability to HIV for
woung women and girls is being driven by men 5-10
years their senior wha, although they have more



freedom to access HIV prevention and care, do so at
very |ow ratos.
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In response, the Foundatlon piveted its focus en
adolescents to cofound a8 new partnership with
PEPFAR, the Glohal Fund, Unitaid, Gilead Sciences,
JoRnson & Johnson and the Children's Investment
Fund Foundation, supparting innovative approaches
to daliver appropriate and effective HIV/AIDS
services for men, thus reducing their risk of infeciion
and death and thair onward transmission of HIY to
their young female partners. The 51.2bn MenStar
Coalition, launched in July 2018, will leverage the
strangths of its partners to significantly expand
diagnosis and treatment of IV for millians of young
men. Its first formal propramme will be a national
HIV self-testing campaign in Kenya in early 2019,

tore information about these initiatives and our
broader programmatic work can be found on pages
0-11 of this report.

Advocacy

Qur advacacy work, with policy makers, business
leaders, activists and tha media, is designad to keep
the fight against HIV high on the public and palicy
agenda; to press for global resources to adequately
fight the epidermlc and to reduca |aws and practices
whlch slgnificantly infringe the human rights of those
living with or at high risk of HIv. During 2018, we
have engaged in a range of high-profile activities
{see pages 16-19) from the broad and global to the
local and highly specific.

Managing Infection risks when
| handling the deceased
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A poignant example is challenging the practice of
funeral directors in the UK refusing to embalm the
body of someone who had died of AIDS. The
Foundation supported the National AIDS Trust ta
challenge this with the Health & Safety Executive
and the funeral directors’ industry. The new
guidance restores dignity 1o those who have died of
AIDS, their partners and famllles,

Fundraising

During 2018, we developed a number of critical
partnerships fer Instltutlonal funding. Grants from
these bodles were not realised during the year due
ta contract delays. As a result, our fnstitutional
funding fell to 24% {2017: 54%) of our income,
When these partnerships are finalised, Institutlanal
Income is expected to rise considerably, continuing
the overall upward trajectory af this income stream.
Financial planning mitigates any significant timing-
related Ineeme fluctuations.

Individual donor and event: revenue performed
well, raising over £5 million during the year {2017
£4 million} with two gala events in Lendon. For the
first time. The Foundation launched a |arge
awareness and fundraising appeal to the general
public In collzboration with ES| media, which was
matched by the UK government. Onling auctions
and merchandise also formed part of the campaign,
revenue from which will be largely realised in 2018,
Mare information on these can be found on pages
20-21 of this report.

Strategic Planning

25

ELTON JOHK vzars
AIDS FOUNDATION

2018 marked our 25" anniversary, We used this
mflestone to undertake the most comprehensive set
of external reviews in our history across both the
UK and US. offices of the Eltan lahn AIDS
Faundation. Governance, fundraising, grant making,
communications and arganisational structure were
all reviewed and appraised. Qurgoal was to confirm
the best aperatlonal model, palicies and practices ko
enable the Foundation to be as effective as possible
in its mission over the next decade.

The key recommendation frem these evaluations
was that the Foundation should integrate its
governance and activities into a glabal structure,
minimising duplication, optimising synergles and
speaking with ane voice for maximurm efflciency and



impact. Accordingly, a new, global organisational
structure and staff team, led by Anne Aslett a5 nowly
appointed global CED, was confirmed by both UE,
and U 5. boards on 5" Movember 2015,

ELTON JOHN
AIDS FOUHDATION

GRANT MAKING STRATEGY

= FABTTRA T
Grant Making Suratoegy review
Acting on these recommendations began pre-year
end. Our goals as a grant maker drive all eur
activitles: informing how we resource, communicate
and advacate. Accordingly, we began our
integration by commissiening Accenture to support
the development of a mew global grant making
strategy that builds on our U.K. and U 5. learning In
the previous five years and integrates grants
programmes |n Eurppe, Africa, Asia and the
Americas. EIAF Grants Director Mohamed Osman
ard his team worked clesely with Accenture whodid
an external landscape review and engaged members
of the board and grants panel, external experts,
peers and activists for thelr input and advice, The
final 2018-2023 strategy proposal represents an
ambitious vision for our work, Including lecation,
beneficiary, intervention and learming goals: new
Internal processes for grant solicitation and review,
and & new monitoring and evaluation function. |t
was presented to the Board for discussion and
review on 77 February 2019,

The grant strategy will be followed by similarly global
plans for fundraising, advocacy and communigations
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a3 well as overall organsational development and
resourcmg. These will be presented to the board in
Q2 ol 2015,

Our Promise

We have just over a decade to reach the Sustainable
Development Goal [SDG) set by the United Nations
to end AIDS globally by 2030, As one of the
foremost private HIV/A8I10S institutlans in the warld,
it is the Foundation's duty to play a eritical role in
supporting our progress towards that goal.

With a clear wision, new glabal structure and
expanded resources we pladge to our doners,
volunteers, partners and to those we all seek to
serve — peaple living with or vulnerable to HIV across
the world - that we will do just that with dedication,
cregtivity and compassion.

David Furnish

Chairman

Anne Aslett

Chief Executive officer



Objectives & activities

Purpose

The Foundation's wision is an AIDS free future. Our
purpase is o contribute to making this vision a
reality. An AIDS free future can only be achicved by
eliminating new HIV infections and making sure that
people do not become sick and die, Everyone needs
access o nan-discriminatory HIWY Infarmation and
services that allow them to keep healthy and safe, It
is essantial that those most at risk of HIV, and
therefare most stipmatized bacause of that risk, arg
not left behind in the creation of an AIDS free future,

Sur main contributlon to this wision is through
making grants, mainly to civic arganlsations, that will
improve people's access to services and get their
rights addressed. The Foundation alse supports
these organisations to become more effective, The
Foundation believes that since collaboration
between formal and non-formal sectors is essential
in achiewving this visian, it will use its influence with
other grant makers, with governments and
companies to levarage further funding and services
and break down stigma and discrimination. [t will
alsa seek to engage and influence publlc policy and
funding as it relatas to HIV services,

Main activities undertaken

The Foundation continues to fund a broad range of
services for those living with or affected by HIV,
including education, peer support, medical care and
commadities, HIY counselling and testing. The
Foundation funds operational research but does not
suppert pure medical research. Emphasisis given to
the most disadvantaged or high-risk groups, beth
nationally and internationally, and to community
driven programmes that place peaple living with HIV
at the centre of service pravisian,

Grant making activity

The Foundation’'s website provides information
about how it views the current landscape and needs
of the AIDS epidemic. It highlights case studies of
responses it has made to those needs to date and
details the type of work it aims to fund geing
forward,

Advocacy and communications

The Foundation seeks to use its influance to unlock
bilateral and unilateral resources in the global fight
against AIDS and ta ensure that such resources are
approprfately weighted towards key drivers of the
eptdemic and those groups or populations mast at
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risk, It also seeks to bring new champions to the
fssue who have either resources, accoss or
geographical reach to Influence global impact, Our
commwnicatons aim to bring both the progress and
continuing jeopardy regarding ending A/DS to the
attention of pelicymakers, business and the general
public.

Public benefit

The overall ohijectives of the Foundation, as defined
in its mission statement, are;

The Eftan John AIDS Foundation exists ko empawer
people infected, offected and ot risk of HIVAAIDS; to
elleviote their physical, emational ong finonelal
hardship, enabling them to improve their quality af
fife, five with dignity and exercise self-determination,

The Foundotion believes and values that:

= Everyone is enlitied to dignity ond respect,

« Eugryone hos the right to occess the best
madicing,

= Everyone hos the right o information,
opportunities ond choices as part of the
EFFIPIWENEnE PrOcess.

= Those mast directly affected by the epidemic are
centrof to finding effective solutions,

s Care and concern for each person, respect for
thefr humaon ond legal rights — particularly of the
Most viinerobie ond marginalised — is central to
any coring community,

The Foundation ims to;

v 0etropspaorent and secountable,

v e effective and responsive 05 o grent moking

charity.

Achieve o positive impoct with its funding.

o Work in portnership with o wide ronge of
stokehoiders.

* legrmframits work and shore knowledge gomed.

The Trustees consider that the Foundation has
complied with Section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 in
respect of Public Benefit, and the Trustees have had
regard to the Charity Commission’s guidance.

Performance evaluation and

planning

An appraisal of the charity's performance against
goals is reviewed annually by hboth staff and
Trustees. The charlty’s strategic plan, coverlng the
period 2014-2018, was approved by the Board in



December 2013 and we are developing 8 new
strategic plan far the next five years, Weork plans
against the strategy are developed annually te fulfil
governance, finance, fundraising and grant making
objectives and menitored at Senior Management
Teamand commilies meetings throughout the year.
During 2018, the charlty’s risk register process and
reporting was reviewed and updated with external
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support from Finance B Investment Committee
famber Monica Risam. Our annual end of year
Strategy Day was replaced in 2018 by a series of
comprehensive, interlocking external reviews alress
all our actlvities, The achievements of the
Foundation are referred to in the Grant Making,
Advacacy & Communications, Fundraising and
Finance Reviews later in thls report.



Grant making review

Review of the year

Grant commitments made 2018 0m37

ED L0010
EECA KP Fund 5,294 -
LGBT Fund 494 5,254
Fioneer 1,318 3,48
Support 180 1,515
Advocacy p1:14 87
Robert Key Memaorial Fund 61 =l
Flagship - 20
Mew commitments 9,342 10,014
Exchange loss 491 303
Grant support costs 1,015 811

Expenditure on charitable
activitles __10.B4a 11,133

In 2018, the Grants team received G40 requasts far
support [2017: 655), with a total value of FB4.1
millign {2017: £98.4 million). The current grants
partfalie stands at E29.5 million (2017 E36.3
mlllion].

e i,

Communlty HIY testing for Sex Warkers In Tanzaniz

The Foundation was delighted 1o hear fram 55
grantees that they have reached over 1.9 million
individuals (2017: 1.8 millien} with various HIY
services including testing, access to treatment and
prevention,
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Cleents at an Integrated Ca2e Clinic fov Pecple who njagt nf'ugs In
Crelhi, Imdla

Field trips were undertaken during the wvear te
current and potentlal grantees in Russia, Ukraine,
Kazakhstan, Armenia, Uzbekistan, Kyrgystan,
Tajlklstan, United States, Indla. Kenya, Tanzania,
Uganda, Mezambigue as well as within the UK,

A mabile HIY and harm reduction clfnic in Ruessia

Populations supported

DQuring 2018, the Foundation estimates that it
provided HIV testing ta 1,183 841 individuals {2017
1,098,002 of whom 262,402 were chlldren and
adolescents [2017: 293,517),

The beneficiaries by target population are as follows:




In addition to direct support the Feundation
provides indirect swpport, in the form of advice and
technical supporl,

Grants made in 2018

Mew grant commitments in 2018 totalled £93
millicn (2017; E10.0 milion}, and can be broken
down by country and grant pertfolio type as follows:

Grants awarded by tountry in EGOOs

17 Lt

] 11 Fieheer [ ]
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Flagship Grants

During 2018 no new flagship grants wera awarded.
By the end of 2018, the flagship grant with Anova
Health in South Africa was completed. During the
course of the grant, Anova Health had scaled up a
national communication campalgn, cempleted a
PrEP dermanstration project and rolled out a national
clinical competence programme. The Social Impact
Bond-became active supporting HIV testing and
treatment in Lambeth (see additional information on
page 16).

EECAKP Fund

Seventy per cent of people living with HIV will be in
middle income countries in 2020 and Infection rates
are growing fastest in EECA particularly amaongst
people who use drugs and the LGET community, At
the same time, multilateral and bilateral aid s
withdrawing from many middle-incame countries,
leaving a huge funding gap in an eipanding
epidemic.
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In 2017, we established a new, unigue programme -
the Eastern Europe & Central Asia Key Populations
Fund {EECAKF Fund} - to effectively mobllize funding
and provide targeted support, 2018 was the first
year that grants were committed for this fund.

¥

HIY testing Ln Ekarenn.hurg.. Russia

Four Lighthouse Imitiatives have started, piloting
innovative methods of health care delivery in four
cities in the Russian Federatfon. Lighthouses are
complemented by smaller community initiatives
across the country. A pionaering, online self4{esting
project has been launched in Kazakhstan, and in
Armmenia, 8 new community-based rapid-testing
initiative has helped people in remote areas know
their status. Acrass the region, an Emergency Fund
has been established whieh supports projects from
community organisations that arg struggling te
continue vital HIY services.

Binpetig g wsers  mBAGAM @PLWH Greral oeoilabian

The chart above displays the focus of the
Foundation's EECAKP Fund grants awarded in 2018
totalling £7.0 millian.

LGBT Fund

In 2015, we established a 510 million Rapid
Response Fund to address stigma, discrimination and
viglenge faced by Leshian, Gay, Bisexual and
Transgender (LGBT] peaple. This fund was fully



committed by the end of 2017 and the fund was
extended in 20018 with an additional grant from
UNAIDS of E0.5 millign, This amount was awarded in
2018,

Pioneer Grants

Where Flagship Grants advance a co-ordinated
response amangst multiple stakehelders {such as
government, civil socigty and the media) who are
already deeply engaged In HIV work, Pioneer Grants
by contrast are for new, standalone programmes
that can act as proof of concept in how to deliver
results for a beneficiary group, or in a geography,
that has great need but is proving extremely
challenging, Fioneer grants prioritise key
populations at higher risk = such as Men who have
Sew with Men (MSM}, Sex Workers and people who
use drugs,

- 3

Hiv nurses, Clintan Health Access Inl@ative team and Thomas
Brigdan from EJAF at a rural ART cantre In Katha, Myanmar

The chart abave displays the focus of the
Foundation’s Pioneer Grants awarded in 2043
totalling £1.3 million,

Support Grants

The Foundation's Support Grants, which allgn with
the UNAIDS Glokal Plan, are ones inwhich we are a
part of a wider coalition helping to fight the
epidemic within the generalised population,

Support Grants awarded by the Foundation in 2018

were for adolescents in Sub-Saharan Africa and
tatalled £0.2 million.
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CUAMBM, BEeira, Mozambigue

Advocacy Grants
Flease refer to the Advocacy & Communications
Review qn page 16,

Robert Key Memorial Fund Grants

These grants are named in mamory of Robert Key
MBE {1947-2008] who co-founded with Sir Elton
John the UK arm of the Elton John AIDS Foundation,
Robert was tha first Executive Director of the
Foundation, He had a personal mission to provide
support to individuals who had no access to
treatment or were shunned and shamed bacause of
their links to HIV,

£41,000

Wonrls bang s Y Genera

During 2018 a total of £90k of Robert Key Memarial
Fund Grants were awarded.

Plans for future periods

The end of 2018 marked the completion of our five-
year strategic plan develsped in 213, We have
developed a new global grant making strategy in
partnership with Elton John &IDS Foundation US.
The strategy will be presented to the Board for
censideration during Q1 of 2019. Once approved, it
will inform the Foundation's overall grant making for
the naxt five years. Given the extended investment
in EECA, we plan to conduct maore field visits and
grantee ENgagemants in the region. We shall review
and enhance our grant making processes including
the introductien of salesforce community platform
to enable our grantees to better engage with thelr
data. In addition, we wlll add to our stadf numbers ko
help build gur manitoring and evaluation capacity.



The grant making process

The Foundation's grant making activity currently
operates on the basis outlingd below. However, this
structure will be modified in 2019 to reflecl our
revised plobal processes,

How to Apply for a Grant Potential applicants arg
directed to the Grants section of the Foundation
wehsite, where they can view detfails of the five
grant portfolios that the Foundation awards funds
under:

a. The Raobert Key Memerial Fund is open all year
and applicants can submit a Concept Note at
any time,

b. Pionesr Grants are open for application at
certain times {usually 4 times per year, for 6
weeks at a time).

¢. Support Grants are by invitation anly,

d. Flagship Grants are by invitation only,

e, Atdvocacy Grants are by invitation only.

any applicant wishing te apply for a grant must
submit a Concept Meote online (for Robett Key
hMemorial Fund and Pioneer Grants) orsend through
a Concept Mote following an expressien of interest
{for Support{Flagship/Advocacy Grants), If the
Foundation approves the Concept Note, the
applicant is invited to submit a full application
gnline. In addition to the main application,
applicants are requested to provide: praject budget,
praject work plan, project diagram, latest aceounts,
two references, Constitution o Articles  of
assaciation, fimancial management procedurs and
the Foundation's pelicy questionnalre. Applicants
have fow weeks to submit their application.

The Foundatlon's Review Process.  When an
application has been submitted, the Grants
Coordinator checks the content of the propasal to
make sure all the information provided is complete.
Additionally, references, accounts and all other
supplementary documentation are reviewed pricr to
a full review Lo ensure that the applicant meets our
eligibility criteria. When reviewlng an agplication,
several areas are considered to pauge the sultability
of the programme to address thaidentified problem.
For example, whether the proposal fits our current
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grants strategy, and what the project is seeking to
achieve. Similarly, the reviewer will consider the
financlal viability of the proposal, whether it offers
value far maney in comparisen to other grants and
whather the applicant has soureed other income far
ihe project. The proposal and accompanying
comments are then sent to the Grants Panel for
approvalfrejection.

The Foundation fGrantee Relationship. Onca an
application has been approved, the Granis
Coordinatar will notify the applicant of the farmal
approval via emall. The applicant is then required to
submit a preferred reporting and payrment schedule,
the start date of the grant, confirmation of project
targets/goals, confirmation of their Senior Financial
Representative (SFR), the € of the 5FR and an
oreanogram, A Letter of Agreamentis then drawn up
and sent to the applicant for signing, with the first
tranche of funds being paid cut before the project
start date. Usually, grantees will be required to
report back on progress every six menths
([comprising a narrative report, expenditure report
and waork plan report), with payment of each
subseguent tranche of funds contingent upon a
satisfartory project update,

How the Foundation Determines Impact. At
application stage, applicants are requlred o submit
Clear project cutcames, how these outcomes will be
measured, and specific targetsfindicatars [such as
Tatal Beneficiary Numbars, Higher Level Goals and
Key Perfermance Indicators). When reporting to the
Foundation during the project period, grantees
submit a narrative on project progress, a work plan
report and submit up to date data against agreed
targets. This enables the Grants Team to gauge
progress against the application, but this can alse be
assessed based on a project visit, discussions with
other partners, or case studies. Applicants may also
~ but are not required o — submit additional
infarmatlan  regarding  progress  which  will
demonstrate  the project’s  impact  {ie. an
oreanlsational Impact Report’, detailed project data
ar news articles).



“Silence is not an option”

Support. Don't Punish is a global advocacy campaign
that the Foundatlon has funded that supports the
well-being of people who use drugs. lya (36} from
Moscow is one of them. "1 believe that we must
recognize that paople need medicine and reatment
and that banning drugs won't work.”

Sir Elten John Joins thousands of others arpund the woeld in
pramating the "Seppart. Den’t Punish” @mpalgn.

The Andrey Rylkov Foundation promeotes humane
drug policies that are based on tolerance, protect|on
of health, dignity and hurman rights In Russia. llya is
one of their clients, He was not at all surprised when
he found eut he has HIV. “| suspected a long time
ago that maybe | am HIV positive. Many friends of
mine are HIY positive and | knew the risks of getting
infected t00." From the start llya was determined
not to let his own HIV diagnosis silence him. “Wha
would | keep this a secret from? Hiding your status
only makes things worse. Silence is not an option.”

Mot a crime

Desplte growing recognition of the negative
consequences of the international “war on drugs’,
recent develspments, such as the waorsening HIiV
crigis in Russia, show that drug policies are far from
centring the well-being of affected communities,
Instead, these pollcies demonise, dehumanise,
eppress and oiminalise people who use drugs. llya
experiences the repressive drug policies in Russia
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daily: “My two close friends were imprisoned, only
because they used drugs together, H's unclear to me
how the authorlties come up with the terms of
punlshment. "ve been thinking about this a lat, |
believe it is much better to offer people substilution
therapy than put them In jall. Drug dependency is a
health conditian, not a cime.”

MENE

llya, client of T

To the point

Every year the Andrey Rylkov Foundation takes part
in Support. Don't Punish. This global advocacy
campaign was launched in 2013, It secks to
empower, mobilise and raise the voices of allles,
activists and community-based organizations 1o
advance policies that support the well-being of
people wha use drugs.

The campaign has been successful in terms of
mabilising people, opening spaces for dialogue with
policy makers and influgncing the publlc narrative
around drugs and people who use them. Bany
greganizations in over 200 citiez in 93 countries
araund the world take part in Support, Do’ Punish.

Iya thinks this campaign is very important o
support peaople wha use drugs in Russia. "The namea
of the campaign is right 1o the point. | believe that
we must recognize that people need medicine and
treatment and that banning drugs won't work, It
should be taken into account that drug use has
always existed and will exist. And it is necessary to
suppert peaple, Instead, our government is rying to
punish us harder and harder.”



Providing stigma-free services in Asia

SAATHII - 'Subhlksha’ = India -~ Prison Populations
Prisaners across the world have an increased
vulnerability ta HIY yet continue to be left behind in
national responses. In India, home to over 400,000
prisoners, only a Rfih of prisons report having
integrated HIV counselling and testing as part of the
standard health services on offer. In 2017, the
Foundation provided a grant to SAATHI ta establish
a project to reach indlviduals in prisons and other
tlesed settings in 11 states acress the country. In
addition te offering routine HIY support within
prisons themselves, the project seeks to addrass the
issua of pnward transmission upon release, by
successfully linking ex-inmates to HIV treatment
programmes in the community,

e
HIV fe:
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Heavily endorsed by the government, who are
bolstering EJAF's efforts by providing medical staff,
antiretroviral treatment [ART) and dlagnostics
suppert, the "Subhiksha’ project has already tested
78,714 poople for HIV In 209 prisons across India.
Further, it has linked 192 people living with HIY to
treatment programmes both inside facllities and in
the communiky,

A network of over 1,000 prison peer volunteers have
been recruited to promote the programime and
educata others about the importance of HIY testing.
The programme has been well received, with the
Matianal AlDS Control Organisation (NACG) holding
series of launch events and highlighting the project
as a best practice example of partnership warking.

Population Services Internatlonal - A Total Market
Approach to Scaling Up Effectlve Harm Reduction in
Vietnam - Vietnam — People wha inject drugs

Although Wistnam has made impressive progress in
addressing its HIY epidemic, mere than 11,000 new
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infections are recorded each year, with peopla who
inject drugs still accounting for the majority of the
estimated 250,000 people living with HIV. In 2016,
the Foundation began work with Population Services
International to reduce new infections among
people who inject drugs, by increasing the
availability of needles and syringes in major urban
areas of the country.

Dur project, ensured that low-tdead space syringas
{which retain 100 times less blogd than more
traditional versions) were available in a variety of
ways, including at tea stalls during the night time
twhich are located near to local ‘shooting galleries’)
and at truck stops surrounding large cities such as
Hanoi and Ha Chi Minh. In addition, the project ran
community HIY testing days, where people whao
inject drups could attend for stigma free HIV
services, Ovar the course of 24 months, the project
has tested over 12,000 people for HIV and
distributed over 10 million safe, low-dead space
syringes. Evan in a highly criminalized environment,
the programime dermanstrated that meeting peaple
‘where they are’ is the most effective way of
reaching key vulnerable populations.

Mr Duc andfzmil-,-

MrDuc, a bike messenger, tested at a F5I motorbike
servicing and HIV testing event at a coffee shop In
Heo Chi Minh City. He has injected drugs for more
than seven years but could not remember his last
HIY test. When asked what made HIV testing at a
coffee shop batter than testing at a health facility, he
explalned "Oht | hate the smell of hospitals. And |
don't like the way pecple |ook at me when 1 go (o a
health facility.” On getting tested at a P3l-run
community event, Due said, “These people are just
like me, and they don't look at me like | am a bad
person.”



Grant Income

Review of the year

Geantincome 2018 2017
£0rg £Q00
Grant income received £238 6,502

In 2018, we extended our UNADS partnership within
the LGBT Fund. This Fund has supported LGBT
comrmunities in multiple African countrles.  The
extended grant was awarded toMPact Global Action
for Gay Men's Health and Rights which was formally
known as The Global Forum on MSMW B HIY
[MASKAGE].

O mew subsidiary, EJAF Social Impact (1} CIC, was
incorporated in 2017 to create a Social Investment
Partnershig. The alm of the partnership is to reduce
HIV transmission in South East London by bringing
additlenal investment to fund the commissisning of
new evidence-based Interventions. We have been
comrissioned by the three councils of Lambeth,
Southwark, and Lewisham to increase and better
target testing to reduce undizgnosed and late
diagnoses of HIV and te improve patient pathways

1s |Page

and treatment outcomes by reducing those that
disengage from services. We expect to help
between 250 and 340 people lving with HIV over the
next bwo years,

Mohamed Osman
Grants Director



Advocacy & communications review

Review of the year

Advocacy & Comms Expenditure 1018 72
EQDT EDHH]

Advocacy ¥ Ccommunicalions

expenditure a6 22

Advogacy grants 285 B7

hur 251" anniversary year offered the opportunity for
reflection and renewed dedicatlon to gur mission, It
provided rnultiple platforms and channels to raise
awareness about HIY today and to advocate for
those most affected by the AIDS epidemic: young
people, the LGBT comrmunity, people who inject
drugs and the marginalised such as sex workers and
incarcerated populations,

Sir Elton receiving the Crystal award

Mobilising global capitalists

In January, Sir Elton received the Crystal Award for
hls philanthropy amd musicianship at the World
Econormic Forum In Davos, In front of an audience of
world |eaders, philanthroplsts and global CEQs, he
used the accasion to highlight how an increasingly
unequal world leaves more pesple vulnerable to
disease, particularly HIV which thrives in poverty,
discrimination and sexism, Chief Executive Officer,
Anne Aslett also held 8 number of meetings during
the course of the Forum to explore potential
public/private partnerships for the Foundation's
ongoing waork, particularly with young people.
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sir Elton Jahn delivering the
Diama Memaorial speach

Anrie Asient, Linda Gail Buekkor
B Dok Gold

Challenging Digital Platforms

In May, the Foundatlen partnered with the National
A0S Trust in their 30" year to co-host the Diana,
Princess of Wales Lecture on HIV, founded in
memory of the late Princess [Diana for her
campaigning work on HIV/AIDS.

Elton Jahn delivered the lecture which celebrated
achigvements in the global AIDS Rght since the death
of Diang, including those he had witnessed with
Princess Diana's san, HRH the Duke of Sussex during
2017. He stressed the responsibllity of the media
and particularly global digital platforms such as
YouTube, Facebook and Instagram to project
messages and stories that counter the prejudice and
discrimination which still surround HIV. He noted
that these platforms can be a force for good,
partlcularly for yourng people, The cccaslon brought
together leaders from across the UK HIV community
as well as key Intermational figures including the
Executive Directars of Unitaid and of the Global Fund
to Fight AIDS, TB & Malarla and Linda-Gall Bekker,
President of the International AIDS Society.

Raising Awareness and Political Will

in Eastern Europe

In anticipation of a new round of grant awards as
part of the Eastern Europe & Central Asia Key
Populations Fund, in May Elton John, Chairman
David Fumnish, Anne Aslett and Grants Oirector
Mohamed Osman visited Armenla. Reviewing the
pountry's single HIV treatment clinic with Prasident
Sarkissian, Sir Elton stressed the importance of
fightlng stigma for these affected by HIV and
introducing new toals and methodologies including
PrEP and self-resting,



Immediately [ollowing this, the group travelled o
Kigv in Ukraine where a public festival at Kurzah
dedicated to awareness and acceplance of HIV and
organised by the AMTI Aids Foundabion showcased
programmes funded by the Elton lohn AIDS
Fowndation over the past 15 years, These included
de-Institutionalisation of children living with HIV;
support for families affected by HIV/AIDS, self
testing and appropriate HIV care to men who have
sex wilh men, outreach and needle exchange to
people who use drugs. Elton and David participated
in a live national radio broadcast to highlight the
enormous ddvances made since 2003 in finding,
treating and supporting those living with HIV in
Ukraine and in bresking down stigma surrounding
tha disease,

A4
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Hospikal wisit in Ukraine May 200 A

Prigr 1o their departure, the group visited the 100%
Clinic, a hosplital founded by the Foundation's first
ever grantee in Ukraine = the All Ukrainian Network
of People Living with HIV. In a move to normalise
HIY care, the hospital prevides services to peneral
patients as well as at risk groupt and those living
with HIV. |t is supported by the Ministry of Health
and 5 part of the eHealth system tracking HIY
testing and access to carg,

Convening Partnersin the global
AlDS Community

At the 22nd International AIDS Conference in
Amsterdam, Foundation staff participated in
multiple sessions. Many af the sessions were with
grantees and partners including: a Gilead-sponsored
symposium chaired by Chief Executive Officer, Anng
Aslett, entitled “Together we can stop the Yirys®, In
addition, Grants Directar Mohamed Gsman chalred
‘Strategy for Improving HIV testing for Men' at the
FEPFAR partners meeting. He alss delivered a
presentation at the ‘Changing the Game in
adolescent-cantrad  design:  Assets,  Actess,
Adharence' session.

Additianally, EJAF sponsored the Lancet Cormmission
on 'The Future of Global Health and the HIV
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Respanse’ report which was launched at the
conferenco.

W.AIDS2018 o
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Kaohamed Qsman, Grants Director at AIDS 2018

Al the conference’s Qpening Plenary, Elton John was
joired onstage by HRH the Ouke of Sussex and
Ndaba Mandela, the grandscn of international
human rights leon Nelson Mandela, te unweil
MenStar. This is a billion-dollar global coalition
focused on HIV testing and treatment of men.
Representatives from the MenStar Coalition partners
—-PEPFAR, Unitaid, the Global Fund, Gllead Sciences,
Johnson & Johnson and Children's Investment Fund
Foundation also joined the ling-up,

Menstar Cogalition Partrers

Eltan alse met with the First Lady of Kenya, Margaret
Gakuo Kenyatta, ta discuss the implementation of
ene of the MenStar Coalition’s first nitatives: an HIV
self-testing campaign aimed atyoung men in Kenya.

In 2 year when the rise of HIV in Eastern Furope was
the subject of multiple sessions and abstracts, the
conference also proved a highly topical platform for
announcing the first-reund grantees of the Eastern
Europe & Central Asia Key Populations Fund. There
wis a lvely press conference moderated by Chris
Beyrar {Desmaond M Tutu Prafessor of Public Health
and Human Rights at lohn Hopkins School of Public
Health), Sir Elton annouaced grant awards to the
Global Health Research Cenmtre of Central and
Humanitartan Action, who have been awarded a
“Lighthouse” grant ta develop an example of at-scale
HIW services for people who inject drugs and sex



workers in St. Petersburg, Dutch NGOG AIDS Fands
cenflrmed that they will co-fund the £1.5 millian
Emergency Support element of the Fund and will
manage its implementation.  Lambert Grijns,
Ambassadorfor Sexual and Reproductive Health and
Rights & HIW/AIDS announced a €1 million
contribution to the Fund on behalf of the Dutch
govarmment.

Sir Elton and David Furnish also gave [nterviews
highlighting the critical importance of maintaining
funding for HIV programmes and fighting stigma and
discrimination to a range of media outlets including
CHN, Channel 4 and Buzzfeed.

Advocacy in the UK

In December 2018 we partnered with E5L Medla as
their chosen charity for the Evening Stondord
Christmas campaign which ran from 4" December
2018 until 11" January 2019, The campaign, called
AlDSfree Citles, shone a spotlight on the similaritles
and differences batween the AIDS epidemnics in six
key citigs around the waorld: London, Atlanta, Kiev,
Mairabl, Mew Delhi and Maputo. The campaign
kicked off in Atlanta, where Elton Jehn visited the
Ponce Treatment Centre.  There he and Evening
Stendard proprietor Evgeny Lebedey talked to
dinicians and patients about the alarmingly high
rates of HIV and AIDS in the city, where gay African
Arngrican men have a 60% lifetime chance of
contracting HIY and some reports estimate 54% of
black gay men who are HY positive are not in care,
Eltan and Evgeny took an HIY test to promote the
Importance of knowing your status and accessing
treatment, They then joined a group of key
stakeholders in Atlanta's HIY community: Kelsha
Lance Bottoms, Mayor of Atlanta city; Chairman of
the Fulton County Commission Rob Fitts, Wendy
Armstrong, Medical Director of the Fonce Center,
Jeff Cheek, Director of the Ryan White Program and
alicia  Philipp, President of the Community
Foundation of Greater Atlanta. The group heard
patients and activists including Bazon Cixen Dialla,
President of non-profit Sisterove, describe the
challenges of fighting HIV in Atlanta today.
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par Lelirlaw and Sir Ellen bl a1 the Fonce Center o Atlanta
[Jerenny S2lwyn)

Every weekday across a sixweek peried, the
campaign fealured powerful and intimate stories of
people living wilh HIV — commercial sex workers, gay
men, mothers, farmer drug users, parents. It told
stories of people’s lived exparience in 2018: the
efficacy of treatment, the persistant issue of SgMa
and the drivers of vulnerability, n addition to the
900,000 rnonthly circulation throwgh the Evening
Standard, articles fom the campaign weore
reproduced in the Independent online which has
B0 unigue wsers per month, and highlights
featured on the Foundation's own social media
channels, with 2 reach of 300,000 duwing the
campaign period.
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The Department for International Development and
the Department of Health and Social Care partnered
with the carnpaign through the Aid Mateh scheme to
support work in Maputo and Nairobi. Secretaries of
State Matt Hancock and  Penny  Mordaunt
contributed opinion pieces to the Evening Stondard
on the Importance of the campaign and fermer U.5.
First Lady Mictielle Gbama leant her support withan
editorial in the paper on Christmas Eve,

Plans for future periods

During 2019, we will expand our current global
advocacy strategy to include the domestic HIW
epidemic in the United States; developing a new
public private partrnership with American counties
where HIY prevalence is high, that can highlight the
challenges and opportunities for an accelerated
national response to ending AIDS,

we will wark with a range of partners to support the
replenishment of the Global Fund fighting AIDS, TE
and Malaria, and ro leverage significant additional
corporate and political support for our work in
Eastern Eurppe and with young men.

We will continue to champion the support by
national governments of intarnational development,
particularly multilzteral mechanisms that effectively
channe! funds for HIV services where they are mast
needed.



We will challenge the criminalisation of sexuality,
HIY transmission and drug use that fuels the spread
of the disease in marginalised groups.

We will streamline our communications channels,
bring 2 dedicated Communications Director
onboard, and develop a series of materials that bring
our glokal structure and vision and our siratepic
priarilies to a wider audience.

Anne Aslett

Chief Executive OFfilcer
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Events and Donations review

Review of the year
Event & Fartnership income Z018 2017
EQLYs £0005
Event and partnership income 5191 4,373
Event and partnership costs [1.161) [1,751}
Met event and partnership 4,030 2522

Incame

Argento Ball

On 27 June 2018, Elton Iohn and David Furnish
hosted the Argenta Ball at their home Wouodside, to
mark a milestone fundraising event celebrating 2>
vears of achievements by the Elten John AIDS
Foundation and held in assaciation with Bylgard, the
iconic Itallan |ewellary brand, and long-standing
supporters of the charlty Bob and Tamar Manoukian,

With ticket sales, auction, pledges and personal
donations on the night, over £4.4 million in total was
raised from the evening to support the charity's
work with young people around the waorld. This is
the only age group for whom HIV Infections are
risimg, with more than 200,000 yourg pesple
infected with HIV 1ast year alone,

Ed Sheetan perforriirg at Argento Ball

The auction which included 2 breath-taking, bespoke
piclaren 5705 Spider super car hand-sprayed by
McLlaren's craftsmen and women in ‘special’ metallic
Blade Silver;, a2 unigue Gucdi  Experience
incorporating tickets to Sir Elton’s Farewell Tour
Concert; and a private breakfast with Victora
Beckham alongzide the creation of a bespoke copy
of the garment that Yictoria was wearing an the
evening.
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Argento Ball in June 2013 oL Woodside
tong-term EJAF supporter and Trustee of the
Foundation Graham  Morton was  Master of
Ceremnonies for the night which featured a
captivating performance by the most successful
recording artist of 2017, Ed Sheeran; celebrity
imprassions from MNicole Parker as well as a roof-
raising D) set from the Platinum Award winnlng
drurm and bass band, Rudimental,

In addition to the entertainment, guests wera
presented with the Elten lohn AIDS Foundation's
headline achievements since [ts formation in 1993,

*HIY has changed from a death sentence to a
manzgeable condition, requirlng just one pill a day.
We are sa very proud of the Elten John AIDS
Foundation's role in this extracrdinary progress aver
the last 25 years and will continue in gur mission te
create a future free from AIDS,” cominented David
Furnish.

inner {Deep) Space by Chris Levine
David Furnish and celebratad multi-disciplinary artist
Chris Lewine hosted the preview night of Inner
{Deep) Space, Levine's exhibitlan of new immersive
sensory installation artwarks on sale during Frigze
week including a danation from sales in benefit of
the Eiton John &IDS Foundation,

David Furnish and Cheis Levine



& preat supporter and friend of the charity, Chris
Leving |5 perhaps best known for producing what is
already being described as one of the most iconic
images of the twenty-first century, Lighthess of
Being. The exhibition preview at Park Village Studios
near Regent's Park saw 150 guasts and EJAF patrons
and supporters treated to a private view of Leving’s
largest sala exhibition to date,

The Band: Gala Opening Night

Gary Barlow, Howard Donald, Mark Owen and
Robhie Williams along with Davld Furnish hosted a
Gala Opening Might of "The Band®, a new musical
based on the music of Take That at the Theatre
Royal Haymarket, to benefit the Elton lohn AIDS
Foundation in its 25™ anniversary year.

The cast of The Band musical parfarm with Take That

All the stall seating was replaced with tables for the
event which featured a special dinmer and auctian
and culminated with a performance by Take That,

The Gala Qpening Night marked the launch of the
Evening Standard/Indepandent Chrristrmas Campaign.

Evening Standard / Independent

Christmas Campaign

For the flrst time, we launched a two-manth
AlDEfree Christmas appeal with the Fvening
Stendard and The fndependent reaching out to
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pecple arpund the world te show that HIY can be
beatan.

The campaign went on a journey from Londoen to
aAtlanta, Mairoki, Kiev, Delhl, Maputo and back,
shining a spetlight on how people around the world
are combatting the virus, how we can help and the
vital work still to do, The am was to accelerate the
progress of these six citles in tackling thetr HIV/AIDS
aepidemnic which culminated in a Cities Forum,
bringlng together representatives from all the six
cities.

A combinatlen of fundraising mechanisms and call to
actions allowed the readers to contribute to the
campaign in a variety of methods including a series
of four anline auctions featuring artwork, holiday
packages and celebrity experiences along with
several special edition pieces of merchandise.
aupporters could alse make their contributions by
5MS, online, telephone angd postal denation
rmethods,

The Foundatlon enlisted a broad rangs of celebrity
champians, many of whom recorded video messages
urging the public to support the campaign and its
fundraising channels.

Mews ! BIDSfree 9
‘We've come so far... now let’s
[eave no one behind’

Sar Elton Jobin isswes rallvimg ors o eadess mue) B Geemm

At Hon Matt Hancack and Rt Hen Penty Mordawunt

With the help of matching funding from UK Aid
Match, the campaign raised £3.3 million.

Plans for 2019

with tha integration of the UK ang US Foundations,
the Acaderny Awards Viewing Party in Los Angeles
an 24% February 2018 was a combingd effort acrass
bath offices.

Rocketrnan, an epic musical Fantasy about the
uncensored human  stery of  Elton John's



broakthrough years will premigre in Landon in May
2019 with a fundraising element. Our sighaturg
evant style will alzo be taken to the South of France
in July 2019 with the inaugural Elton lohn AIDS
Foundation Summer Party. In the latter part of the
year, we have more gvents lined up, meluding the
Spectrum Barclays Gala in Octeber 2019,

In addition, we will be moving our internal
fundraisng database onto an integrated systemwith
grants and finance focusing on hetter stewardship
procedures and better connectivity with digltal
media.
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Glenn Horder
Head of Events and Partnerships



Financial review

Review of the year

Consolidated financlal outcome 2018 017
E0G0 £D)
Incame 9,345 12,177
Costs of rarsing funds {2,080 {1,751}
Expenditure on charitable [10,843) {11,133}
activities
[Loss]fgain on Investment {400 BS
Mat deficit [3.983) j642]

The Foundation's intormne was adversely affected by
the cancellation of a planned summer event.
Despite this, grant commitments remained on
budget resulting in a defleit of just under £4 million.

We introduced a new finance systerm with pro-bono
support from ION Industries Ltd. The new system s
fully integrated with our grants database and will
integrate with the new fundraising system due to be
Implemented in 2019, We also welcomed Yanda
Marenghi as UK Finance Manager.

We continue to ensure good financial governance
over grants with financial reviews of four large
international grants and two pre-grant reviews of
new grantees carved out by accountants, Crowe UK
LLP, offering significant assurance on policies and
procedurss,

Incaming ressurces
The Foundation's consalidated Income was raised
from the fallowing sources:

Charitable axpenditure
Consclidated Total Expenditure on  Charitable
Actlvities decreased to L10.8 million (2017 £11.1
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millien] dee to shghtly decreased grant
tommitments, 363 {2017 90%) of tatal expenditure
in the year is direct awards to implementing
partners, The remaining 14% was used (o gnsure
that these partners and their projects are adeguately
supported, monitored and evaluated; that the
charity is governed and managed effectively and
approapnately and In support of further developing
the effectiveness of the charity's fundralsing, The
percentage of expenditure on support increased in
2018 due to the cost of a grant review to measure
and ensure our continuing effectiveness and alse
support with developing a new worldwide grant
strategy for 2015 - 2023,

Mat defich

Overall in 2018, the Foundation reported a net
deficiv totalling £4.0 milllan (2017 deficit of E0.G
millien). This was the result of consalidated total
expenditure increasing to E12.9 million (2017: £12 8
millien) and incoming resources decreasing to £9.3
million {2017; F12.2 million]).

Investments

The Foundation has an agreed Investment Falicy.
This provides delegated authority to the Finance &
Imvestrment Commities (FIC) to manage the
Foundation's investments within stated parametars.
FIC is chaired by the Treasurer and reports to the
Board.

The Foundation seeks to produce the best financial
return within an acceptable level of risk tomaintain
the real value of investable funds, before they are
required for grant making,

Reserves policy and going

caoncern

The objective of the reserves policy is to ensure that
the level of unrestricted reserves will inance the
strategic plans of the Foundation, mingful of the
econamic environment in which it finds itseld, The
Board, through its delegated authority ko FIC, agreed
to maintain unrestricted reserves of E6 million,
which equates te 12 months of grantdisbursements
and sustalnzble operating costs.

Monies received by the Foundation for specific
initiatives, are classified as restricted. Each restricted
fund is administered separately to ensure accurate



allocanon  and compliance  with  the donars’
requiremeants

The Foundation's total funds as at 31 Decemnber
2018 werg £11.7 millien [2017: ELS.7 million] of
which E1.2 milliph are classified as restricted funds
[2017: £6.0 million) and £10.5 million as enrestricted
funds (2017; £9.7 millien). £0.9 million (2017 £2.0
milllen] of the unrestricted funds have been
designated for the EECA KF Fund and £0.2 million
{2{117: £0.2 millign} for the Robert Key Memorial
Fund.

The Board has reviewed the financial position of the
Foundation and consider that adequate resources
continue to be available to fund the activities of the
Foundation for the foreseeable future, The Board is
of the view that the Foundation is a going concern.

Plans for future periods

With closer integration with the US Foundation, we
will ke implementing an integrated grants
managerment, fundraising and finance system across
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bath entities and conbnuing to increase the
efficiengy of the systemn through automation,

Qur new subsidiary, EJAF Social Impact {1} CIC, was
incorporated in 2017 to create a Social Investment
Partrership and is now fully operational. It has been
consolidated in the 2018 financial staterments.

O

Fiona Russell
Finance Director



Structure, governance & management

Trustees’ report

The Trustees of the Elton lohn AIDS Foundation (The
Foundatiogn} are pleased to present their report
together with the financial staternents of the charity
for the year ended 31 December 2018, Since all
Trustees arg directors of the organisation, this report
can alse be cansidered as the Directors report,

As part of the process of greater integration with
El&F US, Anne Aslett |5 now Chief Executive Officer
of both EJAF UK and EIAF US. This move has enabled
us to provide mere cohesive support to our
grantees, donors and other key stakeholders,

The accounts have been prepared in accordance
with the accounting pollcles set out in note 1 to the
accounts and comply with the charity's govarning
document, applicable law and the reguirernents of
the Statement of Recommendsd Practice,
“Accounting and Reporting by Charities” together
with applicable actounting standards and the
Companies Act 2006,

The Foundation has maintained trustee indermnlty
insurance to Indemnify Trustees and ather officers
Bgainst the consequences of any neglect or default
un their part.

Governing document

The Foundatlen was incarporated on 1 February
1993 and is poverned by its Artleles of Association,
which were reviewed and updated in November
2018 In order to enable doser integration between
EJAF UK and EIAF US {which remaln separate [sgal
organisations} the governing documents of both
organisations were updated to be as similar as
possible. Under the new governance arrangements,
when they are fully implemented, there will be six
Trustees serving on both boards, three Trustees who
only serve on the EJAF UK Board and three who only
serve on the US Board. This arrangement enables
tlose cooperation between the two organizations for
matters of common interest, but also allows the
independent Trustees to take decisions on behalf of
thelr respeciive organisation without a conflict of
interest, should the need arise.

Directors and Trustees

The governing body of the Foundation is its Board of
Trustees, wha are alse directars for the purposes of
cormpany law. The names of the Trustees who
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served during the year are set out under Reference
& Administrative details later in this report.

Mew Trustees are appointed by the Board on the
recommengdation of  the  Nominations &
Remuneration Committee, which is chaired by the
Deputy Chalr of the Board, The Foundation operates
with a Board of up to nine Trustees who collectively
provide a range of expertise in development, the
non-profit sector, fundraising, financial
rmanagement, marketing and legal affairs, as well a3
representing the views of those affected by and
living with HIV/AIDS. A needs analysis of the Board's
skill base is undertaken to ensure it retains suffigient
eapertise to govern the oreanisatien,

With the exception of the Chairman, David Furnlsh,
{who has no time limit on his appointrment] and
Trustess wheo were in place when the new Articles
were approved [where special  transitional
arrangements applyl, Trustees serve a three-year
term of office with the option for further term’s re-
election. In exceptional circurmstances, a Trustes
may be re-elected for a third term, after which they
cannot serve as a Trustes again. Two new Trustess
were appointed during the year: Lynda Funke joined
as Deputy Chalr and lana Kloss, pravigusly on the
Bcard of EIAF US, joined also a5 Trustee far EJAF LK,
In addition, Ajaz Ahmed, was elected as a Trustee
after the year end.

A formal Trustee Handbook covers the legal
objectives, mission and powers of the Foundation,
how it operates, Board composition and terms of
reference for the charity's committees.  The
handbook alse sets out the role of Trustees
{recruitment, responslibliities and leaving the Board)
and provides puidance from the Charity Commission
with respect to pood governance and Trustees’
respansibilities.

Aninductlon planner and checklist for new Trustees
are alse included. [n addition to the handbook, the
Foundation has an assessment framework that
includes an analysis of any conflicts of interest, a
self-assessment questionnaire for the Board, a
Trustee performance appraisal and a divarsity
perception questionnalre.  This framework is
reviewed eyvery other year. Any new Trustees are, as
part of their ongoing training and understanding of
the organisation and the contest of its activities,
expected to attend one meeting of each of the
grants, fundraising and finance committees and to



take a role within one of these committess, in
additian to visiting prograrmmaes in the field,

Statement of Trustees’

Responsibilities

The Trustees {who are also the directors for
company law purposes) arg responsible  [or
preparing the Annwal Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and
regulaticns.

Company law requires the Trustees to prepare
finanecial statements for each financial year. Under
that law the Trustees must prepare the financial
statenents in accordance with United Kingdern
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice {United
Klmgdom Accounting Standards and applicable law].
Under company |aw the Trustees must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and falr view of the state of
affairs of the charitable company and of the
incoming resources and application of rescurces,
including the income and expenditure, of the
charitakle company for that period,

In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees

are required ta:

+ selectsuitable accounting pdlicies and then apply
them consistently;

s observe the methods and principles in the
Charities S0ORP;

# make judgments and accounting estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;

s state whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in
the financal statements; and

= prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis wnless it is inapproprlate to
presumme that the charitable cempany will
continue to operate.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adegquate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charitable company's transactions and
disclose with reasongble accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charitable company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
cemply with the Companies Act 2006, They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
company and hence for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Trustees are respensible for the mantenance
and integrity of the corporate and financial
informatien included on the charitable company’s
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wabsitg Legitlation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of
fnancial statements may differ frem legislation in
other jurisdictions

The Trustaes confirm that so far as they are aware,
there is o relevant audit informaticon {as defined by
section 418(3) of the Companies Act 2006} of which
the charitable company’s auditors are unaware,
They have taken all the steps that they ought to have
taken as Trustees to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit infermation and to establish that the
charitable company's auditors are aware of that
infarrnation.

Governance structure

The Foundaticn's governing Board, which constltutes
up to nine Trustees, meets up to four times a year of
which one meeting sets the Foundation’s overall
policy and direction in all areas of its work for the
coming  year. This  includes reviewing the
Foundation's mission statement, its charitable aims,
risks and current ohjectives.

Subsequent meetings take a specific focus on grant
making, fundraising and finance respectively, and
are Infermed by specialist committees {further
details of which are given below]) that each convene
up to three times per year, Each group consists of
voting Trustess and honorary non-executives (a
guorum  of three), specizlist advisers whers
appropriate and staff members. In this way, the
Board collectively has both general oversight of the
organisation’s activities as  well as  detailed
understanding of each of its key areas of operation.

Any new Trustees are inducted accarding to
processes sat out in the Trustee Handhook and join
one of the Foundation's individual sommittees.
Additional committee rmembers are sought, as
needed, to complement Trustee engagement.

The Board will review any additional or updated
guidelines that the Charity Commissign issue on
Trustees’ responsibilities

The Grant Panel

The Grant Panel reviews the outputs, geographical
spraac and strategic focus of grants, as well as in
depth analysis of proposed indlvidual grants. This
analysis is provided in the form of electronic reports
produced by grants staff who assess funding
applications” wmerlts in the context of the
Foundation’s current goals, commitments and
approved strategy. The Trustess have a 10-day
window to consider assessments and discuss any
issue directly with the Chief Executive Officer or



grants staff by phane befare submitting their vate
against each application. Any voting member of the
Grant Panel can request a meeating to discuss the
grantapplication(s]. Funding decisions are made by
way of a majority vote and are ratified by the Board.
There is an appeal procedure far grant applicants
that are unsuccessful. Face-to-face meetings 1-2
times per year allow for reflection on achievements
and a mora in-depth review of progress against
strategy, lessons learned and changes in funding
landscape, all of which inform Future strategic
decisions,

A mindmum of theee Trusteos contributed to each of
the three Grant Panzl reviews held in 2012,

The Fundraising Development
Group (FDG)

FDG has delegated authority to set fundraising
strategy and goals, identify new opportunities and
agree specific elements of critical fundraising
prajects, marketing and communications. Decisions
are made by a majority vote or, where there is 3
slgnificant financial cutlay, risk or change in strategic
direction, recommended to the full Board, Dueto an
xtensive sverbaul and consolidation of EJAF UK and
US activities, as well as an external fundraising
revlew, FOG did not meet in 2018,

The Finance and Investment

Committee {FIC)

FIC has delegated responsibliity for  the
organisation’s financial, investment and risk
management actlvities. It spacifically reviews
financlal performance, advises on the Foundation's
investrment strategy and undertakes periodic reviews
of organisational risk, internal controls and financial
pelicies and procedures.

FIC met four times during the year, with each
meeting attended by 3-4 members who were
supported by the Finance Directer. The commities
formally reviewed the organisation’s financial
perfarmance and strategy, which included examlining
the 2017 audited accounts, managing and setting
the risk appetite of the Foundation and reviewing
forecasts and budget,

Nominations & Remuneration

Committee

This Committes has been established to oversee the
recruitment of new Trustees for recommendation to
the Board and to set the remuneration gf the CEQ,
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EJAF Trading Limited

The Foundation has a wholly owned trading
subsidiary, EJAF Trading Limited, which provides the
management for one-off fundraising events. All
profits from its activities are paid o the charity,
During 2018, EIAF Trading Limited genarated sales of
£2.3 milllen (2017 - £3.0 million) and a net profit
before gift aid of E1.0m {2017 E1.6m}. The Trusteses
are satisfied with the performance and results of the
subsidiary for the year ended 31 December 2018,

EIAF Trading Limited (Company Repistration Number
02951448) is based at 1 Blythe Road, London Wild
{HG and Its directors are:

Sir Elvan John
Cavid Furnish
Anne Aslett

Eiton John Aids Foundation
(South Africa)

The charlty alse has a partner company in South
Africa - Elten John AIDS Foundation {South Africa)
{EIAF SA) Registration number T34 7372004 035-358-
MPO. It was established in November 2004 to
facilitate a Ffundraising event in Cape Tewn in
January 2005. The net proceeds of any fundraising
by EIAF A are distrlbuted within South Africa, by
EJAF 5A, to HIM/AIDS programmes. The funding
guidelines of the partner company are the same as
thosze of the UK Foundation,

international Friends of Elton
iohn AIDS Foundation UK

To accemmodate multiple US based donors whe
wished to support our work in Africa and Asia, the
Foundation established a US subsidlary, the
International Friends af Elton John &105 Foundation
UK {"International Friends®), The subsidiary granted
£2 9 millien to the Foundation {2017 E1.3 milhon].

International Friends of Elton lohn AIDS Foundation
UK (Employer |dentification Number 51-2055910)
was incorporated in March 2016 and [s based at
Crowe Horwath LLP, 22% W. Wacker Drive, Suite
2600, Chicago, IL 60606, [ts directors are:

Anng Aglett
Monica Risam
larnle Cooper

EJAF S5ocial impact (1) CIC

The Foundation established a community interest
cormpany, EJAF Social Impact (1] CIC in Novermber



2018, This company is a wehicle for the first Social
Impact Bond arpund HIY and it focuses an early
identification and suppert for prople with HIY in
London, There was no revenue in the year to 31
Decernber 2018 and costs were E0.2 million.

EJAF Sgcial Impact {1} CIC [Company Registratian
Nurmber 11050787) is based at 1 Blythe Road,
London W14 QHG and its members arg:

Anne dslett
Elton John Aids Foundation

Risk analysis

The Board of Trustees continue to review and assess
the risks that the charity faces and the potential
Impact they may have on the organisation, This
analysls is undertaken beth for the charity and for
individual large-scale grants.

The main components of the risk management
systemn are as follows:

Ared Detail

Risk register The Risk Register Includes key rishs,
their likellhood and significance and

haw they are managed and mitlgated,

Buring 20018, the Senior WManagement

Tearn undertook a deotailed review of

the Foundatlen's Risk Register. This was

subject to review and approval by both
by FIC and the Board,

Grant review During 2018, Croawe, a  mdjor
procedures international  firm of  accountants,
condugted a review of four selected
grants and two pre-grant assessments.
Reporiing The Board i5 presenked with the risk

register at least annually,
EIC reviews kthe risk reglster, assesses

the adequacy of existing contrals and
reports its findings to the Board,

The Board has identified the following major risks to
which the Foundation is exposed:
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Impagl af bahaviour From
stall, Trustees and other
EIAF representalives

Loss of income resulting
from palitical uncertainty
and substantial reliance
on  Sit Elton lohe's

Alb ermployoes, Trustees and
Cammittce membars  are
thoroughly wettod. Employees
are requlred to comply with a
detailed Safeguarding Pollcy

& new Fundraising stratogy has
been dewveloped with the US
Foundation ta help diversify
iNCorme streams.

attendance 1o generate

evant NCome

Failure of grant due to We undertake thorough dus

embezzlement or diligence prior te making grants

inapproprlate behaviour.  and stage payments, Grantees
are subject to an audit review
on a rotational basis.

Management

The Chief Executive Officer is appointed by the
Trustees to manage the operations of the
Foundatlon. To facilitate this effectively, the Chief
Executive Officer has, within the terms of delegation
approved by the Trustees, authority for all
operational matters, inchuding grants, fundraising
and finance,

The Senior Management Team [(SMT] met regularly
during the year {o update on prograss against goals
far 2018 and to identify new opportunities and risks,
Meow service [evel agreements were secured for HR
and legal services,

There is a clearly articulated and approved staff
structure within which all staff have defined
management lines, detailed job descriptions and a
farmal appraisal process. Appraisals areinformed by
individual work plans and goals. Staff meetings were
held an average every 6-8 weeks throughout the
year, A Staff Handbook outlines the Foundation's
relevant policies and procedures. During 2018, this
was reviewed, updated and shared with staff.

The Foundation’s principle on remuneration is (o
ansure the reward package is competitive with other
equivalent organisations, to enable recruitment and
retention of staff. The Foundation will continue to
identify further opportunities to dewvelop staff
members’ relevant professional qualifications and
knowledge; despen staff engagement with the work
of Feundation grantees and explore discrete projects
that create new staff teams,

Role and contribution of

volunteers

i line with the mission statement, volunteers play a
wital part in supporting the fundraising and



charitable activities of the Elten loghn AIDS
Foundation. During the year, the Foundation
benefited from over four volunteers who supported
critical fundraising activities, including the Argents
Ball, and Fgurvalunteers who helped with grants and
administrative office dutios.

Fundraising standards and

complaints

In 2018, there were no failures by the charity, or by
any person acting on its behalf, to comply with
fundraising standards or scheme for fundraising
regulation that the charity or the person acting on its
behalf has woluntarily subscribed to. There were no
complaints received by the charity, or by a persan
acting on its behalf for the purposes of fundraising,
about the fundraising activities that the charity has
done,

Internal control

The systems of internal control are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, asturance
dgainst rmaterial misstatement or loss. These
centrols are periodically subject to povernance
review by the FIC,

Statement of disclosure to
auditors

S0 far as the Trustees are aware, at the time of
approwing our Trustees Annual Repart and Strategic
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Report, there 15 no relevant audit information of
which the charitable company’s auditors are
unaware. Additionally, the Trustees have taken all
the necassary steps that they ought to have taken as
trustees (o make themselvas awara of all relevant
audit information and to  establish that the
charitable compamy's auditors are aware of that
inforrmation.

Auditors

In 2017 we undertook a review of our audit service
in line with goed financial governance and selected
naw auditers following a tender process, During the
year, UHY Hacker Young LLP, were appointed as
auditors.

On hehalf of the board of Trustess

I

Trustes

Dated: & f?f"'é ZC?I(?
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Directors and Trustees

The poverning body of the Feundation is its board of
Trustees, who are also directors for the purposes of
company law, Trustees at the date the report is
approved or who served during the year are:

Davld Furnish* Chalrman
Lynda Funke* Deputy Chair
{elected § Movernber 2018}

Tracy Blackwell™® Treasurer
Mark Cybul*

llana Kloss* {elected 5 November 2018)
Evgeny Lebedew

Izhnny Bergius

Ajaz Ahmed (elected 7 February 2019}

Anne Aslett (resigned 5 Movember 2018}
Scott Campbell [resigned 5 Movemnber 2018)
Sir Elten John {resigned 5 Movember 2018)
Rafi Manouklan {resigned 5 November 2018}
Graham Norton [resigned 5 Movember 2018)

fTrustess marked * are also board members of EJAF
in the US.)



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE ELTON JOHN AIDS FOUNDATION

Opinion

We have gudited the financial statements of The Elton lohn AlDS Foundation [“the Group’) far the year ended 31
December 2018 which comprise the Consolidated Staterment of Financial Activities, the Consolidated and
Foundation Balance Sheets, the Consclidated Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements,
including a surmmary of significant accounting policles, The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in
their preparation fs applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland {United Kingdam
Generally Acceptad Accounting Practice)’.

In aur oplnion the financial statements:

*  pivea true and fair view of the state of the group and the charitable company's affairs as at 31 Decernber 2018
and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, for the year
then ended;

* havebeen properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

* have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Com panles Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted gur audit In accordance with International Standards on Auditing [LJK} 115As [UK)) and applicable
taw. Qur responsibliities under those standards are Further deseribed in the Auditar's responsibitities for the audit
of the finandial statements section of our report. We araindependent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that arg relevant to our audit of the finaneial statements in the UK, including the Finandal Reporting
Council's {FRC s} Ethleal Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical respansibliities in accerd ance with these
requirements, We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufflcient and appropiiate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to gaing concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters In refation to which the 1SAs {UK) require us to

report to you wherg:

»  theTrustess, who are also the Directors for the purposes of Company Law, use of the gaing concem basis of
accounting in the preparation of the finandal statements is not approprlate; or

»  the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial staterments any identified materlal uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about the Group's abillty to continue te adopt the going toncern basis of accounting for a
perlod of at least twelve months from the date when the fnancial statements are authorised for issus,

Other infarmaticn

The other Information comprises the Informatien included in the annual repert, other than the fnancial
statements and pur auditer's report theraan, The Trustees are responsible for the other information. Our epinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other Information and, except to the extent otherwise explicithy
stated in our report, we do not exgress any ferm of assurance conclusion thersan,

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the ethar information is materially incansistent with the finangial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
Inconsistencies or apparent matertal misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement In the financial statements or a material misstatament of the ather information. If, based on the
waork we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstaternent of this gther information; we are
requlred to report that fact.

We have nothing to repart in this regard.
Matters on which we are required to repart by exception

In the light af the kngwledge and understanding of the Group and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
hawe net identified material misstatements in the Trustees Repert.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORTY
TO THE MEMBERS OF THE ELTON JOHN AIDS FOUNDATION

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

requires s bo report tooyou i, noour oRinign:

= the information given in the Trustges’ Report s inconsistant in any materfal respect with the finandcial
statemants,

= sulficient accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for cur audit have not been recelved
from branches not visited by us; or

* the financial statemeants are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

»  we have nat recaived all the infarmation and explanations we requirg for our audit.

Responsihilities of Trustees

As explained more fully in the Trustees' statement of responsibilities, the Trustees' are respansible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and falr view, and far such
internal control as the Trustees’ detarmine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial staternents that are
free from material misstatement, whether due te fraud ar error,

In preparing the finangial statements, the Trustees’ are responsible for assessing the Group’s abllity to conlinue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and Lsing the going toncern hasis of
accounting unless the Trustees’ either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease eperations, or have no realistic
alternatlve but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilitias for the audit of the financial statements

Our ohjectives are to obtain reassnable assurance about whether the financial staternents as a whaole are free from
materal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes qur opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not @ guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 15As {UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
errar and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic dedsions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities far the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRCs website
at: hitp:/ fwww. fre.org.ukfaudltorsresponsibilities. This deseription forms part of our auditor's repert.

Usa of our report

This report is made solely to the charitable company’s Members, as a body, in aceordance with Chapter 3 of Part
15 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken s that we might state to the charitable
company's Members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditar's report and for no other
purpose. To the Fullest extent permitted by law, we donot accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than
the charitable company and its Members as a body, for our audit work, for this repert, or for the opinions we have
farmed.

b oa

Subama Banarjee (Senior Statutery Audit
for and en behalf of UHY Hacker Young
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor

Quadrant House

4 Thomas More Square
Lordon

E1W 1¥W

United Kingdom

3 h\oa. 2019
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THE ELTOM JOHN AIDS FOUNDATION

(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE)

COMNSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
(INCLUDING THE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 BECEMEBER 2018

Unrestricted Designated Restricted Taotal Total
funds funds funds 2018 2017
Netes £ £ £ E E

Incame
Denations and legarizs 2 2,643,825 3,012,345 5,662,234 8,739,653
Other trading activities 3 3,519,268 . 3,515,268 2,858,147
Investments L1 143,342 - - 163,342 475,430
Total income 6,326,458 3,018,245 9,344 544 12,177,230
Expenditure
Costs of raising funds 5 2,080,280 - 2,080,280 1,751,164
Expenditure an charitable actlvitios & 3,277,934 40,000 7,529,954 10,847 288 11,1332 933
Total expenditure 5,358,214 40,000 7,529,954 12,528,168 12,884,102
(Loss)/gain on investments 11 (399, 656] - - (395,656) 65,211
Meat incomef{expenditure| ] 568,629 {40,000 [4,511,609) (3,982,580) {641 661}
Transfers between funds 16,17 1,355,333 (1,083,098} [272,225) - -
het movement in funds 1,523,952 [1,133,058] 14,783,834} (3,982,980 1641,661]
Reconcillation of funds
Fund balances at 1 lanuary 20148 7,481,883 2,200,020 5.984,025 15,665,508 16,307 569
Fund balance: at 21 December 2018 15 9.40k,835 1,076,502 1200191 11,682,923 15,665,508
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THE ELTOM JOHM AR5 FOUNDATION
[A COMPANY LIMITED B8Y GUARANTEE)
COMSOLIDATED AMD FOUNDATION BALANCE SHEETS

AS AT 31 DECERNBER 2018

Flxed assols
Tangille aszets
Investmeants

Lurrent assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and In hand

Creditors: amounts falling due
within one year

Met currant azsats

Tatal assets less corrent |iakilitles

Crediters: amounts falling due
GvEr ong year

Net assets

Represented by:

Unrestricted funds
Designated Funds
Total Unrestricted Funds

Restricted funds

Total Foundation funds

The Foundaticn has taken advantage of the exemptlon under $408(3] to not present the Feundatlo n's profit and 1oss

account.
B acCouis werg Ll

LAY
David Furnish
Chairrman
The Eltan |ehn AIDS Foundation

Company Reglstration Mumber 02737008
Charity Registration Number 1017336
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Notes

10
11

20,21

13

14

1%

1%

1&

17

Graup Foundat|on
2018 2017 18 2017
£ £ £ £
6,460 9,701 5483 2,372
2720611 2,266,041 8,720,611 2,866,041
B, 27071 2,875 M2 8,721,204 2,868,413
4053511 3,381,366 5,300,003 4,040,749
12,065,855 22,508,751 10,352,651 21,801,209
16,119 3656 25,888,117 15,652,754 25,841,958
(9,241,979} (10,362,367) 15,488,544} (10,508, 375)
&, 217387 14,925,750 &, 154,210 14,933,075
15,004,458 17,200,492 14 B35 414 17 201,452
(3,321,530} (2,135,584) (3,121,530 (2,135,584}
11,682,528 15,665,908 11,764,824 15,665,008
9,405,835 7481883 9,486,791 7,431 283
1,076,902 4,200,000 1,076,902 2,200,000
10,482,737 9,681,883 10,563,693 4,631,833
1,200,191 5,084,025 1,200,131 5,984,025
11,682,928 15,665,908 11,763,554 15,665,508

utharlsed for ssue by the Board on 30 April 2019



THE ELTOM JOHMN AIDS FOUNDATION

(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARAMNTEE]
COMNSOLIDATER STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2018

Net cash used in pperating acklvities

Cash Fows Irom investling activitios:

Inyestment income recalyed

Fayment to acquire investments

Praceads on sale of current asset investments
Praceeds on sale of fixed asset investments
Cither non cash movements

Met cash provided by investing activities

[Decrease)fincrease in cash

Cash balange at 1 January 2015

Cash balance at 31 Decembay 2018
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Notes

19

20, 21

20,21

2018
£ £
14,350,012}
98,335
(9,120,267
109,548
2,821,923
{24241
(6,090,284}
110,440,896
22,506,751
12,085,455

313,703

5,226,500
257,164

2017

(3,658,521}

5757747

2,138,244
20,308,505

22,506,751



THE ELTON JOHN AI0S FOUNDATION

{8, COMPARNY LIMITED BY GLARAMTEE]
MHOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

11

1.2

13

14

L5

16

16 | Page

Acraunting policles

The financial statements have been preganed in acooedance wilh Accaunting and Reparting by Charlrles: Statement of Recommended
Practice applicable ro charities preparing thelr accounts in accordance with the Financial Reparting Standard applicable in the UX and
Republic of Ireland [FRS 102§ (effective 1 January 2015] - [Charities SORP [FRS 1021], the Finandlak Reporting $tandard appilcable in the LE
and Regubllc of [relang (FRS 102} and rhe Cgmpanies Act k.

The Foundation meets the definition of a pubtic benefit entity wnder FRS 102. A<5els and Hablites are initially recognised at historical cast or
kransaction viloa unless olherwise stated In the relevant accounbing policy notes.

Preparation of the financial statemants on a going concern hasiy
The fAnanclal statements of the Foundation and subsidiary companies have been prepared wi the going concern basls and adequate cash
resoureas will ba avaitalile v cover the requelrements for working capltal and capital expenditare for at l2ast the next bwelve months.,

Graup flnancial staterments

These financial stabements conselidate the results af the Faundation and its wholty-owned subsidlarles, EJAF Trading Limited, EJAF Soclal
Irpact [1) CIC and ke rgtianat Friends of Eltan John AIDS Foundarign UK on a ine by line Basis. A separate statement of financial activities
for the Foundatian |tself is nat presentad Because the Foundation has taken advantage of the exemptions afforded by Section 408 of the
Companies Act 2006,

The Foundation rece ived Sift Aid from EMF Trading Limited af £1,006,399 §2017; E1,576,307) which has been ellminated an consolldation.

The Foundation recelved donatigns frem Internationzl Friends of Eiton John AIDS Foundation UK of 93,800,000 (£2,3932,453) which has been
ellrminated on consalldatien. In 2017 the Foundation received 51,693,506 |£1,275,308}.

InCome

Incoime conslses of grants recelved, danatlans and glft ald an income when donations are made under Gift Aid ar o Died of Covonant
Income from grants and general donatiang is recegnlsed when eatitkemont has Been passed ta the Foundation, it s probable the income wiil
ba racwived and the 3mount can be measwored relably. Bank Interest |s recognised when receivable.

Ingame Fram EDAF Tepding Limdted o recognised when entlflement has been passed to the company, it is probakle the income will be
received and the amount can be measured reliabhr,

Legacy Income

For legacies, entitberment is taken as the earller of the date an which either: the Foundation is aware that probate has been granted, the
ectate has been finalised and notification has been made by the eaecukor|s) 1o the Fouadation that a distributlon will be made, or when a
distribwation is received Erom the ostate. Receipt of 3 legacy, in whale or In part, |s aniy considered probable when the amount can be
reasured rellably and the Foundation has Been notified of the executors intentiom to make a distribution, Where [egacies have been
notified bo the Foundation of the Foundaticn is awaee af the granting of probate, and the crlterla fae income recognition have aot been met,
then the lagagy 15 treated as a contlmgent asset and disclosed of material.

Danated sarvdens and faclities
Donated assets are incuded in incoming resources when kegally transferred to the Foundation, The valua atteibuted to the transfer is that
which a witling buyer would have Been praparad to gay Far the aseats.

Depabed professional sarviees and doaated Tacilites are cecopniserd a5 incgrme when the Foundation has control owvear the item, any
cendtions assoclated with the donated itern have been met, the recerpt of economic benefit from the use by the Foundation of the iten 5
probable and thet economic benefit can be mezsursd retiably, In accordance with the Charities S0RK (FRS 102), genaral voluntear time s
not regognised.

On receipt, donated professional sennces and donaved TaciEties are recognized on the basis af the value of the gift ko the Foundation which
is the arnouat e Foundation woudd be willing to pay to sbtain servlces or Facilities of equivalent economic benefit on the open market; a
correspanding amournt is then recognised in expenditurs it the geriod of receipl

Expenditure
expenditura is recagnised once there is a legal ar constructive obligation to make payment 18 3 third garty, it = probable settement will be
reqerired and the amount can be measured reliakly

Costs of raiseng funds comprise commercial trading event costs and Lheir associated Support eosts.

Charitatde activities incfude ergenditere associabed with providing actaities for the bereficlanes and ncludes both the disect costs and
support costs relating to those activities: governance costs and general support costs for ackidties undertaken to furtler Lhe purpose of Lhe
Foundatiosm.

Staff costs are appostioned between achwities on 2 time speot Bosis, Suppart cests include central functions and have been allocated to
gty cosk categories an a basis consistent with the use of resources



THE ELYOWN JONN 8105 FOUNDATION
(A COMPANY LIMITED OF GLIARAMTEE]
MOIES TO THE FIMAMCIAL STATEMENTS
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L7

1.8

1.9

1.10

113

a7 | Fage

Tonglbie flacd pssots ond depreciotion

Tamrlbrle flaed asents Arq slated of cost loss depreciation. Qo ecition is provided 3 rates cakiulabed v write off the cost less estlmatn
resldual wilue of vacl asset over W eepecyi nseful 1ifo, 35 Folows

Furniture and agusamase Stralght lne cwar 3 yrars

Penaisn:
The pensich costs charged In ta linanclsl statements represent the costriborions payaklc By he Foundatlon durlng the period wdich are
recngnlscd wihaon they are due

Forelgn currangy tranzation
Transaction: denominated in Forelpn qurrencivs are recorded at the rates ruling at the date of the transacion. Monetary assets and
Habilitles denomisdled n forelge ourrencies ar; trinstilod Into sterling af the ranes of sechange ruling 2t the balance sheer date. ANl
diffe omeos ra lncluded b nal Maweests s funds

Grant Commitmenis

Grants are agceumoil for when the camaltment arlses. Commitments at the year and are therefore recorded as grant credivors. Grant
ereditars sre ctassified as amounts [alEng dus within one year based on Lthe payment dates to be made. Grant creditors are classified as
amonints Flting tdue over one year based gn tlo payment dates to be made, Geant creditors Falting due over ong vear have been discounted
tex reflect the present vatue of e grant commitment a5 ot the batance sheat date, he discount rate used represents the apportwnity cost
of the average Intarest which fanld be roceived by the company If the Funds were to be Invested In vhe company's bank accounts,

Afturrulated Funds
Restricred Fungs aen subject to indlvidual donors' specific terms and candirigas 25 ko their atilisation. The purposes and uies of the
snstricted funds are set out In Noke 17 to the financial stakeionls

Besipnated Funds corprises the EECAKP Fund and the Robest Key Mamorial Fund. The purpose of these funds are sat out In Mate 1§ and
Mote 17.

Debtors
Trade and gthar debitors are recognised ar the sottlament amaount due after any trade discount offered. Brepayments are walued at the
amount prepaid ner of any trade discounts due.

{ash at bank and in band
Lash an bank and in hand Inciudes cash and short term highly Sguld itvestments with a short maturlty of thiree msnths or less fram the date
of acquisition gr opesing of the deposit or similar account,

Credibars and provislans

Credigrs and provisions are recognised whers the Foundation has a present oblization resulting fram a past event that will prokably result
in the transfer of funds fo a third party and the amount dus to settle the abilgation cin be measured or estimated reliab by, Creditars and
provisions are nommally recognisad at their settlement amaunt after allowing for any rade dscgunts dus,

Creditars arowrnics falling due after rmore than one yaar are measured at amortised cast using the efactive Intarest method,

tnwestoents

Fisgd asset investments are recagnised at fair value calculated 4t dosing market value ab the balanes sheet date. Any gain ar |gss on
reval iation is taken to the Statement of Flnancial Activitles.

Farward Contracts are rétognised at the fair valye of the gain or loss that woukl be recognised if the contract were ko be rtased at the
balance sheat date. Any galn or loss o revatuation is taken to the Statement of Financial Actvities,

Investments in subsldiaries are hehd at cost less any Impairments.,

Company Stetus

The: Cornpany does not have share caphtal and is Gmited by guaranree up to 3 maximurm of £1 for each member. The company satisfies the
requirements of Section 60 {1) of the Companles Act 2006 4nd, having made 2 stabuiory declaration to this effect, is exempt from using the
ward "Limited' inits name.

Judgements and estimation uncertalnty
Estimates and judgemeats are continually evaluated and are based on historical experlence and other Factors, incuding expectarions of
futune pwents that are belleved G be reasonakle under the clyoumstances,

The Groug riakes estimates and judgements regarding the follewing argas: depreciation, intzngible income relating to office space and
intangible lncorve for aucteon items.
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3.1

32

33

panatlons and Tegheles

Unresirictod Reatrleted Talal Tealinl
Tumds Funds 1018 2017
£ E E £
Dnr i lans 2.5 BRY FHRE TS 3,474,468 2.237 758
Srauts regeived 2,217 ez 1,237,766 6,501, B35
2,6M3,E89 1.0LE Wk 4,552,734 3,735,651

Wckated In donation: is EG40, 121 of intangble incame (2007 £822,732). [56,300 (2017; £56,300) relies to oilice space provided free of charge tar
wse by the Foundalion. E4L800 (2017: (621,753} rejates to items donaned to the Foundiiicon far auction al charity events. £169,021 [2017
[ 114,678} reiates to pro bano work provided by Fuschflelis Bruckhaus Deeinger LLP to assist in the ianbslshment of a socll impact bond.

Trading Income

Trading incame fram EMAF Tradlng Larnited

Trading mcewna International Fricneds of Elton John AR5 Foundalion

Total brading mgene

LIK subsldiary

2018 20LY
E i
1,349,657 2,363,B28
Liga,611 544,319
31,515,268 2,958, 147
e

I'he whelly-owned trading subsidiary, EMBF Trading Lomated [Company nurmber 0295 144E), whirh is Incorporated in the United Kingdam, pays all ats
distributatite profits to Uhe Faundation by GillAKL. EVAR Trading Limited prosides management of one-off fundraising evenls. The Faundation owns Lhe
entire issuad sharo capital of 1 erdinary share of £1. & summary of tho rading resuits is shown below

Trading Income

Cast of Saks
Administratio expenses
Imterest recelvable

Met profit
Ameaw nt gifted to e Foundatian
Remined in the subsidiary

The aszets and liabilities of the subsidlany were:

Tanglble assets

Curcent assets

Credlitors: amaunts falling due within one year
Total net assets

Bpgrepake share capital and reseruas

administrative expenges incledes auditor's rernuneration of £9,343 {2016: £3,519).

U5 subsidiary

2018 anL?
£ £
2,049,657 2,362,829
(1,144,087} (774,454}
{201,585) {13,263}
2,434 01
1,005, 399 1,576,307
:I.‘{IIJE,S'B‘QI 11,5 ?E.:H]'.":I
5,866 7,319
590,608 855,292
(596,472} {a72, 630}
1 L
1 1

The wholly-cwned Us charitabie subisidiary, Intermarional Friends of Elten Jehn 4103 Foundatien UK (i £1-2005310), which is incarporated in the US,
pays atl Its distributalile prafits ko the Foundation through grant payments. The subsidiary was intorpgrated in March 2016. A summary of the results

15 shoawn below:

Donations and |egacies
Trading Income
Atliminiskratlve eExpenses
Interest recelvable

Net prafik
smount gifted ta the Faundation
Met income

Resifes brought Forsard
Reseryts canled forward

The aszets and liabdives of the subsidiary wers
Cuarrent assaks

Creditars: arodsnks FaBing duc withan cne year
Taotal net ke ls

Apcregabe share capital and reserves

2018 01T
E £
1E2E GG 73,274
1,169,611 524,310
(98,137 (55,576
2,787 -
2,900,224 1,252,017
{2.893,433) {1,273, 308}
7431 126.2H1)
E1,668 £1.854
B%,099 ELGEE
1,003,335 61,663
(934,226}
B9, 1,568
9099 61,558
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3.4

6.1

UK subshliary

Ellan lahn A0S Fonrdiclon eaeits sigrilcnat conrrol e GAF Socal Irmpact { 1) <15 which was incoeporated oo 13 Moweinber 2017 a5 a private compaiy lnsled by

gunmeates. A swmriory ol resoles o JBiowen e oo

Hilf 2017
[ [
Tatsl ueperditure {L50,0s5|
It azsnes anil llubllitles of the ubselinrg wee
Currnt aseats 226, 894
Creditors: amw s [alling Jue withsn ane yoas {376 9049)
TeAal ren labllitles [1500O55)
AEregote slvare capilal and rasaryes [156,055)
Inumglmant Income Unresaitted  Resinlphod Tl totd
funds funds o1e 2077
L E £ E
Inderest amgnsls degpimies 1oz, 151 102,151 35,715
lil=resd anather Inae s R1I91 &1,101 443,71
163,343 16,392 479.450
Cod ol ralsing lunds
Unsestricted  Restricted Total Taral
unds Twnds 20148 L
E E £ E
Teagding darect costs 1,333 381 1,332 381 618,162
Fundra|sang coars
InGng:ble lnconee ekpense GiA0.L20 640,120 23,73}
Imv=siment managamenn clunge 31,1a7 31,187 .
Salaries 32,500 i3,500 144, 251
Cnker 3092 53,092 65924
1 CE0, 2B - 2 GO, 25 1.7T5L163
Intangible incamg esperss relates to donated aicoan iL=ms from Fundealsing evarits
Expenditure an charftable achyties
EECA KP LGET oy Adwacaoy S0 Fohert, Kay Towal Toad
fund hund Lrants granty Erants Funed 016 iy
E £ E £ E £ E £
Grants coemumuttad (nate 6.1 E,353,763 491421 1,331,165 285,188 185,129 £1,000 9,341,667 1,014,411
Mewement of discount an grant lsbdivy - - - - - - - 50,73
Exzhetge Iosses and cartaibytinn: 367,362 15,281 9,531 14.578 4934 3, M4 480,631 J08, 327
Hlver granks costs ITA61S 15,780 1,303 15273 1130 3,147 S0 I81 111,143
=@ coina 31224 22,534 B2,302 13,345 8,851 1.E55 A37211 354,857
Bdupgagy 35,000 2435 £, Ha1 1,427 SuE 05 46,748 12458
SovErnanoe [sas nate 6.2] 145,844 10,047 27,778 5,950 3,046 1,373 184 938 167,B70
Sereral suppart [ses nate 6.2) (223 527] 13,440 |23,33d) [4,338) |3.315] {1,063) (163, 748} TE, 154
111,419 559.112 1,545,757 131,114 *BE1| ?E g5 10 497 TAS 11,131,833
Gronks epmmtbad to fatiwtians
F{e kil 17
£ E
Huirahitarian Action LABD, 199 -
Faundetion "Far suppart of secial [Nigiaties and public health” 43,548 -
SIGD ' HurBHibsrlan project* ana, B -
centra for Seausl Health T 432 -
Ardzfonds 50, 0 .
Warm Haalth Techrssgy Inc. a9, 580
Fummh Cemara - Harr Asduction 0,733 -
M Pact [The Slobal Forum an kS 392,20 -
Gizhel Health Resnarch Cantre 375002 .
Gharity Foundatan “Temak-AnglAlDE" 50000
Raglonal Pullic Fund “rew Lifo" FLL T+ ¥
Enanrable Fund Istochnlk Nade:hoy {Soutee of Hope) pLEX Fl]
NGO April Frey=ct FELEL
Androy Rylokoy Faundatan 228232
EWa Assra anan 227,281
New Genaratian Huranitarian b 124,594 -
International Harm Reduetion 115,B30
imemational &uds Saciagy L1Z,309 '
Lomirunity Health alliance Uganda - 1,608, iRy
Lncermational M Os Alllancs 1,51%.270
LYET Health 1.37% 802
Zave the Children - 1,294,925
Centre far infecelaw: Diseases - T A0S
Clinton Health Ik mative 93, TEQ
Canadian HIV/A8I0:5 Lagal Nemesrek LR
SAATHII - 439,522
QEh&r insLtutcns 5 363 1837121

S Ad1 66T

10014411
———
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6.2 fnahysls of gavarnance and supp-art E0EES
Govermnance General Basks al apperisnment
support
E E
Buglil, Funs 14,714 Ciowarnanca
Saalf cosls TR, T80 31,201 Allocated on ome
Ll ke v her professiong bees 70,18 Involce sprcilic
Deprasclation 1611 1,620 Wy ol asset
Trustess insurance . oL Sowvernance
Genora officy 7,587 {156,569 Offuce ranning exponscs
194,534 {1£1, ME)
7 Truatess
The Foundation Commissian has authorised payment of reasen able remunerarion to one trusten for services undertaken in the administration of 1he
Fewundation, provided the truslee concerned withd raws fran any meeting whilsL ie irustees remuneration 15 being discussnd. The trustee
concerned, Anne Aslet, was paid rermuneration during the yearn, with the total, includsg navonal Insurance, pesslon and healtthcare, Deing £156.66%
101y £152,9€9]
Dl the year £2,019 of travel ang accommodation was réimbursed be one truste in riation b their duties (2017 E3FZ),
Dawning the year the Foundation paid E4,065 [2017: £2,411) for trustess indemnity ingurance oo indemnify the Lrestees and other ufficers against the
consequences of any neglect or dhefauwlt an their part,
Dar g 1lhe ear khe Foundation pald €23, 347 {3017 £23,747) to defined cantribution penslon schemes in respgct of Anne Astett.
8 Employment costs 2018 2017
E E
‘wages and salarias GE5, 158 LOBELD
Social serurily foses 68,304 EB, P
Cther penslon costs 53,48 41,312
Cther em ploymient costs 13,912 45,379
721,352 750,031
The number of employees whose atnual emalum ents were £60,000 or more were:
2018 7
Number Nuimber
Gienaral manageigent Ty nctlon
ET,0040 - E79.89% 1 1
ERBO,O00 - E§3,999 1 -
E90,A00 - [9 5 1 1
£100,000% - E109,559 h 1
£130,000 - E139,000 1 1
5 4
Contrlbukons totlling £47,33%9 (201} £36,340] were made to defined contribution pension schemes op hehalf of employees whose emalumants
prewetlad EGOOO0.
Nurrber af employeas
Thea average manthly numbar of employers during the year was:
2018 2017
Nuarribar Numbet
(Grants managameant 4 4
General anagamant B 7
Total employees 10 1]
g Nat anpend [kure Far the year
This is stated after charging: 2018 017
£ E
Depreciaticn - enwned assets 3241 3,7
Auditar's ramuneration 14,738 16,863

Losses an exchange 149,928 a08,317
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10

11

12

13

14

Tangile Mxed oisels - group and Foundatkan

Furmiturs Subsidiary
mnd Faundatioen Furnliurs and Group
rRuipmant 1ol Rrulpmant Tat
£ £ £ E
Codl
M 1 lanuary #H118 A 32,484 25,095 55,518
Additimnsg -
At 31 December 2018 EFRCEE 32484 23,035 55,519
Caproclation
At 1 nuary 20LE 112 |11z 15,706 45018
Clurpe for the year 1,774 1,7 1,402 3,241
AL31 Deesmibar 2018 31,851 11,881 17, 16B 45,055
Net book value
At 3T Ogegmbor 2018 593 503 5HGF &, 460
At 12 Decernber 2017 2,372 2,372 7.329 w701
Investrrgnts
Group Foundetlon
2018 201t 2018 nL?
E 3 E f
Market value aud Janwary 2018 866,041 B,284, EOH 2,866,M1 B.2EB4.838
Additions to Invastments ak ¢ost 9,120,267 1,348 120,167 1,346
Disposal of levnstmants at cost {2,823,521) [5.486,E57] {2.823,923} (5,286,357}
Met [oss on revaluation (441,774} {133, 36) |11 774 1133346}
hiarket Walue at 31 Decermber 2018 E?Zﬂ Bl 2,864, 0d 1 B.7I0,611 25,001
Realised and unrealised logs on investments [399,555] 65,211 390, 654G) 65,111
OF the 2018 talal, EB, 720,611 (hath graup and Foundation} relates b Axed asset invesbrients {2017 £2,B66,041)
AN investrients are held primarily to provide investment raturn Far the Foundation,
Inwestments held are as fllawes:
Market Valwe  Parcentage of UK investmanks Morn LK
Total Inveatimants
£ * E £
Flead Asset Ik strmgnis
Other Faed Assat Invesoments 1,720,611 100, 0% 1,714,737 &, 005, BE4
2710611 100.0% E Fl4,727 Einnsg
Debtoes
Group Fotendatban
inle My 2018 2017
£ E £ £
Trade debtors 3,431,165 3,149,908 3,396,165 3,024,908
Qther debtors - 105,13t - 75, 158
Amounts swed by group vnderakings - - 1321,761 £19,133
Prepgayments and accrued income B22 34K 122,627 SHZ, 167 121,452
%US!@L 3,381,366 .E_!m.ﬂﬂ!- 4,0, TA3
Included in the trade debtars Ak is £3 millian {24006 Enil) whith relates ta debtors over one yiar,
Lreditors: amounts falling due within one year
Growp Foundation
2018 Lk 2018 17
£ E £ £
Trade creditors 111,270 41,297 105,881 IR, 756
Srant commitrrdri 9,179,352 10,814,930 9,279,152 10,E1E,930
Accruals and deferred incorme 151,357 102,090 100,311 51,143
9,541!5?5 10,962,367 G454, 544 10,354, 97
Creditars: amaunts falling due after mare than one yaar
Group roup Foundatian Eoundation
ruif 1 2018 2018 Iz
E E £ £
Grant commitm ends 3,121,530 2,135 584 3,121,530 2,135 584
Lepdrs 200, (D - -
3,371,530 2,135,584 3,121,530 2,135,580
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15 fimahysis of group nel assets between funds

Unrestricted Desigmated Restrichid Total
fund Fured fumd
E E E H

Fimed assels BIZ27.0M B72T07L
Curront assels 4,576,035 1,094,402 10,443,007 16,119,306
Crolilens: amiunts Fakling dus wilhin gne y2ar (3,138,535} {17,500} 16,655 344] [9.84 1,974}
Creelitors: amounts lalling due after mare than one year [750,653} - 12,561 872 13,331,530}

9,405 53% 1,076,902 1,200,191 11,682,528

16 Deskmated fumds

The Income Funds of the Foundalson Include deslgnated funds comprising the foflowing baknces, which are ring-fenced fior future use.
Morernent in Tund's

Balance Ak Balance ak
1 lanuary income Vdlised Fund i1 Dacember
1R recaived transfers 018
E £ £ £ E
The Paben ey Memacrial Grant 200,000 - | 403,006) 40,000 200,000
EECA KP Fund 2,000,004 * . 11,123,098} 376,52
2 206,030 [40,500] [1,083,090) 1,076,902

Thiz Robert Key Memaorial Gignt

Robert Key MAF oo founded the Efton John AIDS Foundation with Sir Elton Johe in 1993, He veas ngtrurmental in its devalogenent and growth as
both Frecutlve Directar and trustee untl ls death in Octeber 2009, in s mamory, the trustess of the Foundatlen established a new fumd to
honour Rabert's passion and dediction to adwancing the rights and needs of those most marginalised Dy the A0S epidemic, The: fund Is used to
suppedT programmes that provide a direct and tangible benafit to those llving with HIVAIDS from marginalised communities andfor [ating
exceptlanalby difficult cirgumstances.

EECA XP Fund
The purpose of the EECA KP Fund 15 58t out in Mote 27,

17  Restrictad funds
The Income fands of the Foundation nclude restricted funds comprising the following balances of donations and grants held on trust for speciiic

purposes:
havemnent in funds
Balance at Balance at
1 lanwary IncHme 31 Decarmker
2013 receivad 1hllized Trangferrad Fiol:}
£ E E £ E

UMAIRS - 493,846 1500, 738) 5,830
Mylan 47,441 - - - 47,401
Bulgari - 306,760 [BOE,760) -
ERCA KP Fund 5,000,003 A81,915 (7,005,001 5] 1,123,038
Zachary & Eljah Fud 1,250 5,359 - 7,608
Crpsbruction of Mwam wa Community
Ceattre, Limpepa, South Africa 205, 2B9 - {205,293} -
Funders' Coblabrarative For Children a7 466 795 [51,670) 1,581
Childten's investment Fund 13,570 . - . 13,510
woodside Galbery Cinnes 2015 253,250 - 1253,250) -
LGET - T74,220 - 774,220
Woindside Gallery Dinner 2017 355, E00 + . 355,800
Witol - 55,245 155,245}
Aecess Reach 25,600 [#5.000)

5,984,025 3,018,345 [7.523.0954) [2372,225) 1,200,1H

42 | Page
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17

Reztricted funds [continued}
LIrAIOS

UNAIDS b & 511 mitlion "LGET Fund" partaers g letween the United States Office of the Global AIBS Connginate {in charge of FEFFAR] LIMAIDS,
and EJAF. Its owerall ainn is to tackle the stigma, discriminglion and vlalence Facing LGBT poopbe around the world,

Mylan
EMF teamed up with Mybi inc, ona of the world's leading pharmaceutical campanies, to give 3 combined 51 miligs to the Buslness Leadershig
Council {BLC) Tor a Generation Barn 10 Free for the aliminarian of mother-to-child transmssion of H1Y [ Migaria.

Bulgarl

AID5 related ilinesses remmaln the beading cause af death among adolescents In such-Saharan Sfrica. Adelescent girls ane young women [AGYwW) ara
dispropartignately affected by M1V, 74% of gl new HIY infections auong adofescents are acourting e sdolescent girls, Thare is how Krowing
recognition that prowiding access to HIV Inforisation and services witiurl drddressing the roat eauses thal exacerbate vulnerability to Hiy
Infection for AGYW Is nor sullicient ta pravent new HIY infections. The praject alms to strengthen the capacty of HIY and Sonual Reproduckve
Health services for AGYW, increase the domand for HIY prevenrion soivices for AGYW and o bngrovn access to HIV/SRM Inlarmation and
services, Including lifg shitls. EIAF has secured funding far this grant fram our main spensor Bulgart and the projeey will allow EIAF to increqse It
reach a3 iogion of high need,

ELCA KP Fung

In responze te the pretsing need for action for key pagulations In Eastern Furope and Central Asia, TIAF has Foimed the EECA KP Fund 1o which
Glleagt Lile Sciences has cantriuted £5 million. The ERCA KP Fund s2eks to improve access w0 HIV and co-infection prevention, care and treatment
informaticn and services, Including kann raduction services, for key poprulations in Eastern Furgpe and Central fsia. The Fund will support
Innovative, evidence-hased effarts to bring the reglon closer to epidemlc cantral. [t 3im to reach over 20,0061 members of key populatians by
scaltng U indwative HIY prevention ani treatmant services 16 partrership with communities and health systems. hiorecver, it aling ta empower
communlties delivering and advocating for better, stigma-free Hiv services, and coflect best practices w demanstrate how effective eyidenes
basedl programming In Eastern Europe and Central Asla can biing the region closer b epldemic contral,

Zachary &% Elijah Fund
The Zachary & Elljah Fund was established In 2014 to provide a dedicated source of fanding for tha Faundation in tackling HIV/&IDS issues

uannected with woung people pnder the age of 13, The Zachary & Elljah Fund it designed primarily bo help young people and babies who have
testad HIV positive, However, It witl also provide support ko young people whose Farmily and oo nity hava been Impacted by HIV/AIDS. There
i5 N EEOEraphle censtraint oo where the fund can be applisd,

struction of Mwaml unity Centra, Li uth Africa
The Mwamitw: Community Centre |s a replication af the award-winning Etafeni Trust model af hodlstic gy ppport by, and for, communltles infected
with HIY. Funds for s construction weere ralsed ab the White Tie & Tlara Ball 3016, in one of the highest HIV presalence areas of Lmpopo
pravinge, thi Centre's programmes provide a refuge for mothers tiving with HIV gwing thes skills, care, suppart and fogd, 1o gddition, AIDS-
affected and vulnerzble children recsive food, educational and emotional support. An estimated 20,000 adults and children benefit fram thae
range of services,

Fungrs' Collaborative Far Chilkdrep

The goal of the consertium-funded FEFC s to improve the lives of 5% of the wulnerable chilgren in Sulima, Malawl across four dmnains,
erucation, heatth, livelinggd &nd sotial welfara. The prograriane aims ba surround the child® by providing a package of high guality interventions
that constitute the continuum of care far the child, family and the coanimumity.

CIF Faundatl
Funtls from CiFF contrinute te the elimination of mother to child transmission of HIY.

dside Gallery Oinc

Through our current partneeshlps with dynamic, youth-focused erganisations, we tap Inta what chitdren reatly kove and, by doing <o, ensure that
children and teenagers at risk are bested and treared, We aim bo connegt with adolscents to glve them information about their #IY sk throwrgh
the use of mokile phones adn other technakogy. In addition, we aim to gat young peopln wha are sick with HivgA105 on |Ife saving treatmant. The
propartlan gf adolestents with HIV whe are dying is higher than that of babies or adults wha are similarly infected and typlcally familles exhaust
thwir assets bying bo save them.

LGB

Leshiam, gay, Bisaxual and mansgander people [LBGTE expacialty RS are disproportionately affected by HWAAIDS. In addifion, 223 of AIDS
vebited deaths in Africa acour in Migeria, more than any othar country cn the sontinent, HIY prevalence among BAsh in Migeria is BMperiencing an
exponential ncréase rom 12.5% in 2007 ta 23% in 2017, MSK are prarly 2B times more likely to Be infected with HIV than genaral popalations,
pasticularly in countrigs wiers criminalization of 53108 se relationshps drives such relatienships undergraund, making peopla afraid to seek HIY
treatiment services for fear of stigna and discrimination. The progect aims at praviding £ormprehonsive HIVAST] prevention services bo kSK as wall
as Ehel sexyal partrers in Lagos in a flexigle and mast convenlent approach. The services will he avaltisle ektended hours and gn weekends to
widen the reach. In additlon, servite wser will ako have aceess ta an appointment porsl via a devaloped sofrware application availzble an
smartphognes
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Acsiricled funds [eontinued)
Wnod: g Gallgry Qimee 3017

Dyt i Traim ahis cwant wiil conlvibaite towards oun pralect in South Atrics L Tund an Adalescent Chop-in Cantre for young pecple ling with
HIV located in b raw Kwagula Matal Children's liospital, This Contin will presede compreheeglae care for thowsands of HiY-infaclot yowng
peomio as ey Janraey bake adul huood and will Include o Eaellity for young loal peaple 1o gat tested

“ital

Funding from ¥ioi conirleaned tewards three piojects InosubSabaesn Africa: to addrass paediatric HIY in Wganda by accelerating the
identification amd anrglment of HIY pasitive childrean and adalescents ina treatment and care glus ensuring thal clinical care is imprewce so that
Lbamy are retzined in care; @ program o address the resds ta teenagers for HIVARIDS counsedling and [asting sarvires i Mozamiblgque; and a
progeam b reduen (e child HIY treataont ga In Kisomu and Zumbig

Miocess Roscl

Eltan John MO5 Foundation (E3AF) has srructured a Social Impan Boad (SI8] to dramatically reducing HIY transamssion in Sooth East Landon. The
praject |s initially fundiil by private inestars such 35 EIAF and impact invesning funds. The fingacial rerurn is linked 10 the achisvement of Two
outcomes: diamuosing new tases of HIY and re-engaging pativels whe dropped cut of HIY care. EIAF secured funding from the Reach Fund bo
suppon the closing process wihh investors and t Bt was used bo seek professianal suppors to villgake the final financia | model, suppart due
ihilgence, and propare funding agreamonls with investors

Gross Transfer between funds
The Trustees agreed to rmaintala a designated fued of £200,000 per year to the Rolert Key Memarial Furd, which was 52t up In 2000, The total of
grants disbus s and costs from this fund of (40,400 [2017: £86,LE1] Is therafare show 5 3 recenes transfer.

Reconciliation of nat movement in funds 1o 38t cash InRow

from oparating actlvities 1018 207
£ E

Net sovement in funds 13,987,080) [641,661]
Jnvestrment Incoma recelvable {163,342 {470,330
Gainf{foss] om iwestanents 390,656 {65211}
Depreciation of tanglble fixed asseks 3,241 3403
Incroase In debbars {672,145) [2574,531)
Increase In craditars B5,558 497 414
Met cash used In operating activities [4,350,812) [3,655,521]

Reconclistion of group net caah flow to movament |n net funds

10148 2017
E E
Decrease in cash (10,340, 896) I,158,1E
et furds ak 1 [anuary 2018 22,506,751 70,364 505
Met funds at 31 Decarnber 2018 12,065,855 72,506,751
Analyals of net funds for the group
2017 Cashflow A0lE
E i E
Cash at bank and In hand 12,506,751 |10 440, 296) 1% Q65 B55

Fension tosts
Defined coatribukion
The Foundation aperates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme Jre held separateby frant Lhpse of the Foundalion In
an indepengently administered fupd. The pension oost chaige represents contributions payable by the Foundation.
20r1E 017
E E
Contributions payable by the Foundatian for the year 53,948 q8.33
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23 Rovaluatlon reserve
The Lmesirieied Reserves Include realised and unrealised gains on inweslmdents, which are recagnlsad ina revalstion resore,

Balance at lingomng Outgolng Balance at
1 January liesources Rasources 31 Dacember
2018 inchuding gains  inglwding foseas Transfers ik
£ E £ E £
Rewnludn o rosere 1399,65 6] 399,656
{303,655] 199,656
24 FAnanclal Instruments 8 amartizad cost 013 07
£ E
Financlal assets moasured at fair value theowgh peofic and Joss 16,119,266 2541422

Financlal lrabillfies mnoasured at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets measirresd a1 amortised cost
Financial liablfitles measured At amortised ost [L.076,502) 1,4EB.093

15  Interest costs
incluged within interast costs is Enll {2017 - Enil| which relates te the unwinding of tha discount regarding the grant commitments falling dug
DWET One Year,

26  Related Pariies
Aggregate donations recelved during the year from trustess and peres eannected bo the truskees given without conditions placed an the
Foundarlon were £25,000 {20107 £25 A00}.
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